# Cardi B

Belcalis Marlenis Almánzar (born October 11, 1992), known professionally as Cardi B, is an American rapper, songwriter, television personality, and actress. Born in Manhattan and raised in the Bronx, New York City, she became an Internet celebrity after several of her posts and videos became popular on Vine and Instagram. From 2015 to 2017, she appeared as a regular cast member on the VH1 reality television series Love & Hip Hop: New York, which depicted her pursuit of her music aspirations. She released two mixtapes—Gangsta Bitch Music, Vol. 1 and Vol. 2, before signing with label Atlantic Records in early 2017.

Her debut studio album, Invasion of Privacy (2018), debuted at number one on the Billboard 200, broke several streaming records, was certified triple platinum by the RIAA and named by Billboard the top female rap album of the 2010s. Critically acclaimed, it won the Grammy Award for Best Rap Album, making Cardi B the only woman to win the award as a solo artist, as well as the first female rap artist in 15 years to be nominated for Album of the Year. It spawned two number-one singles on the Billboard Hot 100; "Bodak Yellow", which made her the second female rapper to top the chart with a solo output—following Lauryn Hill in 1998-and "I Like It", which made her the first female rapper to attain multiple number-one songs on the chart. Her Maroon 5 collaboration "Girls Like You" made her the only female rapper to top the Hot 100 three times. "WAP", the lead single of her second album, expanded her record as the female rapper with the most Hot 100 number-one singles as her fourth leader, and made her the only female rap artist to achieve charttopping singles in two decades (2010s and 2020s).

Recognized by *Forbes* as one of the most influential female rappers of all time, Cardi B is known for her aggressive flow and candid lyrics, which have received widespread media coverage. She is the highest-certified female rapper of all time on the RIAA's Top Artists (Digital Singles) ranking, also appearing among the ten highest-certified female artists and having the top certified song by a female rap artist. She is the only female rapper with multiple billion-streamers on Spotify. Her accolades include a Grammy Award, seven *Billboard* Music Awards, five Guinness World Records, four American Music Awards, eleven BET Hip Hop Awards and two ASCAP Songwriter of the Year awards. In 2018, *Time* included her on their annual list of the 100 most influential people in the world.

#### Cardi B



Cardi B performing in 2019 at the Openair Frauenfeld

at the open	idii i iddeiiicid			
Born	Belcalis Marlenis Almánzar October 11, 1992 New York City, U.S.			
Occupation	Rapper · songwriter · television personality · actress			
Years active	2015-present			
Spouse(s)	Offset ( <u>m.</u> 2017; <u>sep.</u> 2020)			
Children	1			
Awards	Full list			
Musical career				
Genres	Hip hop			
Instruments	Vocals			
Labels	$KSR^{[1]} \cdot \underline{Atlantic}$			
Associated acts	Bruno Mars · Bad Bunny · J Balvin · Offset			
Website	cardib.com (http://Ca rdib.com)			

### **Contents**

#### **Early life**

#### Career

2015–2016: Career beginnings

2017–2018: Breakthrough with Invasion of Privacy

2019-present: Hustlers, Rhythm + Flow and

upcoming second studio album

#### **Artistry**

Influences

Musical style

#### Other ventures

#### **Public image**

Political statements

Controversies

Fashion

#### **Impact**

**Achievements** 

#### Personal life

Relationships

Legal issues

**Discography** 

**Filmography** 

**Concert tours** 

See also

References

**External links** 

# CARDI B

# Early life

Belcalis Marlenis Almánzar was born on October 11, 1992, in Washington Heights, Manhattan. The daughter of a Dominican father and Trinidadian mother, she was raised in the Highbridge neighborhood of the South Bronx, she with giving her "such a ther paternal grandmother's home in Washington Heights, which she credits with giving her "such a thick accent." Almánzar developed the stage name "Cardi B" as a derivation of Bacardi, a rum brand that was formerly her nickname. She has said she was a gang member with the Bloods in her youth, since the age of 16. [13][14] However, she has stated ever since that she would not encourage joining a gang. She went on to attend Renaissance High School for Musical Theater & Technology, a vocational high school on the Herbert H. Lehman High School campus.

During her teens, Cardi B was employed at a deli in  $\underline{\text{Tribeca.}}^{[17]}$  She was fired, and her manager suggested she apply to be a stripper at the strip club across the street. Cardi B has said that becoming a stripper was positive for her life in many ways: "It really saved me from a lot of things. When I started stripping I went back to school." She has stated that she became a stripper in order to escape poverty and domestic

<u>violence</u>, having been in an abusive relationship at the time after being kicked out of her mother's house,  $\frac{[23][24]}{[25]}$  and that stripping was her only way to earn enough money to escape the situation and get an education. She attended Borough of Manhattan Community College before eventually dropping out. While stripping, Cardi B lied to her mother by telling her she was making money babysitting.

In 2013, she began to gain publicity due to several of her videos spreading on social media, on  $\underline{\text{Vine}}$  and her  $\underline{\text{Instagram}}$  page.  $\underline{^{[3]}}$ 

## Career

## 2015-2016: Career beginnings

In 2015, Cardi B joined the cast of the <u>VH1</u> reality television series <u>Love & Hip Hop: New York</u>, debuting in season six. [29] <u>Jezebel</u> considered her the breakout star of the show's sixth season. [30] The sixth and seventh seasons chronicle her rise to stardom and her turbulent relationship with her incarcerated fiancé. On December 30, 2016, after two seasons, she announced that she would be leaving the show to further pursue a career in music. [31]

In November 2015, Cardi B made her musical debut on Jamaican reggae fusion singer Shaggy's remix to his single "Boom Boom", alongside fellow Jamaican dancehall singer Popcaan. She made her music video debut on December 15, 2015, with the song "Cheap Ass Weave", her rendition of British rapper Lady Leshurr's "Queen's Speech 4". On March 7, 2016, Cardi B released her first full-length project, a mixtape titled Gangsta Bitch Music, Vol. 1. In November 2016, she was featured on the digital cover of Vibe magazine's "Viva" issue. On September 12, 2016, KSR Group released the compilation Underestimated: The Album, which is a collaboration between KSR Group artists Cardi B, HoodCelebrityy, SwiftOnDemand, Cashflow Harlem, and Josh X. It was previously released only to attendees of their U.S. tour. KSR Group's flagship artist Cardi B said "I wanted to make a song that would make girls dance, twerk and at the same time encourage them to go get that Shmoney," in regard to the compilation's single "What a Girl Likes".

She appeared on the December 9, 2015 episode of <u>Uncommon Sense with Charlamagne</u>. On April 6, 2016, she was on the twelfth episode of <u>Khloé Kardashian</u>'s <u>Kocktails with Khloé</u>: In it, she revealed how she told her mother that she was a stripper. In November 2016, it was announced that she would be joining the cast of the <u>BET</u> series <u>Being Mary Jane</u>. TVLine describes her character, Mercedes, as a "round-the-way beauty with a big weave, big boobs and a big booty to match her oversize, ratchet personality." [42][43][44]

In 2016, Cardi B was featured in her first endorsement deal with Romantic Depot, a large New York chain of lingerie stores that sell sexual health and wellness products. The ad campaign was featured on radio and cable  $TV.^{\underline{[45]}}$  This was noted by the  $\underline{NY\ Post}$  in a feature article about "Cardi B's meteoric rise from stripper to superstar" in April 2018. $\underline{[46]}$ 

# 2017-2018: Breakthrough with Invasion of Privacy

On January 20, 2017, Cardi B released her second mixtape, *Gangsta Bitch Music*, *Vol. 2*. [47][48] In February 2017, Cardi B partnered with MAC Cosmetics and Rio Uribe's Gypsy Sport for an event for New York Fashion Week. [49] In late February, it was reported that Cardi B signed her first major record label recording contract with Atlantic Records. [50][51] On February 25, 2017, Cardi B was the opening act for East Coast hip hop group The Lox's Filthy America... It's Beautiful Tour, alongside fellow New York City-based rappers Lil' Kim and Remy Ma. [52][53] In April 2017, she was featured in *i-D*'s "A-Z of Music" video sponsored by Marc

Jacobs. [54] Cardi also guest-starred on the celebrity panel show *Hip Hop Squares*, appearing on the March 13 and April 3, 2017 episodes. [55][56] In May 2017, the nominees for the 2017 BET Awards were announced, revealing that Cardi B had been nominated for Best New Artist and Best Female Hip-Hop Artist, tying with DJ Khaled and Kendrick Lamar for the most nominations with nine. [57][58] Although she failed to win any awards, losing to Chance the Rapper and Remy Ma, respectively, Cardi B performed at the BET Awards Afterparty show. [59][60] On June 11, 2017, during Hot 97's annual Summer Jam music festival, Remy Ma brought out Cardi B, along with The Lady of Rage, MC Lyte, Young M.A, Monie Love, Lil' Kim and Queen Latifah, to celebrate female rappers and perform Latifah's 1993 hit single "U.N.I.T.Y." about female empowerment. [61][62] In June 2017, it was revealed that Cardi B would be on the cover of *The Fader*'s Summer Music issue for July/August 2017. [63] She performed at MoMA PS1 on August 19 to a crowd of 4,000. [64]

On June 16, 2017, Atlantic Records released Cardi B's commercial debut single, "Bodak Yellow", via digital distribution. [65][66] She performed the single on *The Wendy Williams Show* and *Jimmy Kimmel Live!* The song climbed the charts for several months, and, on the *Billboard* Hot 100 chart dated September 25, 2017, "Bodak Yellow" reached the number one spot, making Cardi B the first female rapper to do so with a solo single since Lauryn Hill's "Doo Wop (That Thing)" debuted atop the chart in 1998. The song stayed atop the charts for three consecutive weeks, tying with American pop singer Taylor Swift's "Look What You Made Me Do" as the longest running female at the number one spot in 2017. Cardi B became the first person of Dominican descent to reach number one in the history of the Hot 100 since it was launched in 1958. An editor of *The New York Times* called it "the rap anthem of the summer". Selected by *The Washington Post* and *Pitchfork* music critics as the best song of 2017, "Bodak Yellow" was eventually certified nonuple platinum by the Recording Industry Association of America (RIAA). The song received nominations for Best Rap Performance and Best Rap Song at the 60th Grammy Awards. It won Single of the Year at the 2017 BET Hip Hop Awards.

With her collaborations "No Limit" and "MotorSport", she became the first female rapper to land her first three entries in the top 10 of the Hot 100, [77] and the first female artist to achieve the same on the Hot R&B/Hip-Hop Songs chart. [78] In October 2017, Cardi B headlined Power 105.1's annual Powerhouse music celebration, alongside The Weeknd, Migos, and Lil Uzi Vert, at the Barclays Center in Brooklyn, New York. [79] In December, she released two songs: a collaboration with Puerto Rican singer Ozuna titled "La Modelo", [80] and "Bartier Cardi", the second single from her debut album. [81]

On January 3, 2018, Cardi B was featured on <u>Bruno Mars' remix version of "Finesse"</u>, [82] and also appeared in the 90s inspired video. It reached the top three on the Hot 100, Canada and New Zealand. On January 18, 2018, Cardi B became the first woman to have five top 10 singles simultaneously on the *Billboard* Hot R&B/Hip-Hop Songs chart. [83] She released another single, "<u>Be Careful</u>", on March 30, 2018, a week before her album's release.

Her debut studio album, <u>Invasion of Privacy</u>, was released on April 6, 2018, to universal acclaim from music critics. [85][86] Editors from <u>Variety</u> and <u>The New York Times</u> called it "one of the most powerful debuts of this millennium" and "a hip-hop album that doesn't sound like any of its temporal peers," respectively. [87][88] The album entered at number one in the United States, while she became the first female artist to chart 13 entries simultaneously on the *Billboard* Hot 100, on the chart issue dated April 21. [89] It also became the most streamed album by a female artist in a single week in <u>Apple Music</u>, [90] and the largest on-demand audio streaming week ever for an album by a woman. [91] Cardi held the latter record <u>until 2019</u>. [92] The album's title reflects Cardi B's feeling that as she gained popularity her privacy was being invaded in a variety of ways. [17] Following the album's release, during a performance on <u>Saturday Night Live</u>, Cardi B officially announced her pregnancy, after much media speculation. [93] She also co-hosted an episode of <u>The Tonight Show Starring</u> *Jimmy Fallon*. [94]



Cardi B backstage at the 2018 <u>Jingle</u>

Several months later, in July 2018, the album's fourth single, "I Like It", which features vocals from Bad Bunny and J Balvin, reached number one on the Hot 100; this marked her second number one on the chart and made her the first female rapper to achieve multiple chart-toppers. [95] It received critical acclaim, [96] with *Rolling Stone* naming it "the best summer song of all time" in 2020. [97] Her collaboration with Maroon 5, "Girls Like You", also reached number one the Hot 100 chart, extending her record among female rappers [98] and also making her the sixth female artist to achieve three numberone singles on the chart during the 2010s. [99] The song's music video has received more than 2.7 billion views on YouTube and was the fifth-best selling song of the year globally. [100] With "Girls Like You" following "I Like It" at the top of the Billboard Radio Songs chart, Cardi B became the first female rapper to ever replace herself at number one on that chart. [101] The single spent seven weeks atop the Hot 100, making Cardi the female rapper with the most cumulative weeks atop the chart, with eleven weeks. [102][103] It spent 33 weeks in the top 10, tying both Ed Sheeran's "Shape of You" and Post Malone and Swae Lee's "Sunflower" for the longest top 10 run in the chart's archives at the time. [104][105] In October 2018, Invasion of Privacy was certified double platinum by the RIAA, and the following year it was updated to triple platinum. With the thirteen tracks, she became the first female artist to have all songs from an

album certified gold or higher in the US. [106]

Cardi B received the most nominations for the 2018 MTV Video Music Awards with 12 mentions—including for Video of the Year, winning three awards. She also tied with Drake for the most nominations at the 2018 American Music Awards. She won three AMAs and performed at the ceremony. Her single "Money" earned her a fourth Video Music Award. Her collaboration with DJ Snake "Taki Taki" topped the charts in a number of Hispanic countries, made Cardi B the first female rapper to top the Spotify Global 50 chart, and has garnered more than 1.8 billion views. Both singles were certified multiple-platinum by the RIAA. People en Español named her Star of the Year, and Entertainment Weekly deemed her "a pop culture phenomenon", as she was named one of "2018 Entertainers of the Year." [113]

On November 30, 2018, Cardi B was honored at  $\underline{Ebony}$ 's annual Power 100 Gala. [114] Cardi ranked fifth on the 2018  $\underline{Billboard}$  Year-End Top Artists chart, while  $\underline{Invasion}$  of  $\underline{Privacy}$  ranked sixth. She achieved the most-streamed album of the year by a female artist globally in Apple Music, [115] and ranked as the most streamed female artist of the year in the United States in Spotify. [116] Editorial staff from Apple Music and  $\underline{Billboard}$  named "I Like It" the best song of 2018, [117][118] while  $\underline{Time}$  magazine and  $\underline{Rolling}$  Stone named  $\underline{Invasion}$  of  $\underline{Privacy}$  the best album of the year. [119][120] Also in 2018,  $\underline{Time}$  included her on their  $\underline{annual}$  list of the 100 most influential people in the world. [121] In its decade-end review article,  $\underline{NME}$  stated that the era secured "her crown as the new Queen of Rap." [122]

## 2019-present: Hustlers, Rhythm + Flow and upcoming second studio album

Cardi B received five nominations at the <u>61st Grammy Awards</u>, including for <u>Album of the Year</u>, <u>Best Rap Album</u> and <u>Record of the Year</u> ("I Like It"). <u>[123]</u> She became the third female rapper to be nominated for Album of the Year, following <u>Lauryn Hill</u> (1999) and <u>Missy Elliott</u> (2004). <u>[124]</u> On February 10, 2019, she then performed at the award ceremony, where she wore three vintage <u>Thierry Mugler</u> couture looks during the telecast and became the first female rapper to win <u>Best Rap Album</u> as a solo artist. <u>[125]</u> Cardi B also led the 2019 Billboard Music Awards nominations, with 21, the most nominations in a single year ever by a woman

and the third most nominations in a year ever (behind Drake and The Chainsmokers, who both had 22 in a year). [126] She ended up winning six awards, including for Top Hot 100 Song, bringing her career total wins to seven—the most of any female rapper in history. [127] An article by *Omaha World-Herald* called her "the biggest rapper in the world." [128]

On February 15, 2019, Cardi B released "Please Me", a collaboration with Bruno Mars, which became her seventh top-ten song on the Hot 100, reaching number three. [129] The song marked Cardi and Bruno's second collaboration, following "Finesse" in 2018. The official music



Cardi B performing in July 2019

video was released two weeks later. [130] On March 1, Cardi set a new attendance record at the Houston Livestock Show and Rodeo, with 75,580 fans in the audience. [131] With "Backin' It Up", "Twerk" and "Money", Cardi became the first female artist to occupy the top three on the *Billboard* Mainstream R&B/Hip-Hop airplay chart. [132] Her following single titled "Press" was released on May 31, 2019. [133] The parental-advisory labeled music video marked her directorial debut—being credited as co-director, and was released on June 26, 2019. [134] It had its debut performance at the 2019 BET Awards, where she won Album of the Year. [135] During the summer of 2019 she embarked on an arena tour. [136]

Cardi B made her film debut in *Hustlers* directed by <u>Lorene Scafaria</u>, opposite Jennifer Lopez, Constance Wu, and Lili Reinhart. [137] The film was released on September 13, 2019 to critical acclaim. [138] Cardi B, along with Chance the Rapper and T.I., were confirmed as judges for the Netflix series Rhythm + Flow, a ten-part hip-hop talent search that premiered on October 9, 2019, which she also executive produced. [139][140] She will next appear in F9, which is set to be released on May 28, 2021, by Universal Pictures. [141] In September 2019, Cardi B became the highest-certified female rapper of all time on the RIAA's Top Artists (Digital Singles) ranking, with 31.5 million certified units, also being the ninth highest-certified female artist overall. Forbes has recognized her as one of the most influential female rappers of all time. In December 2019, Cardi B embarked on her first tour of Africa, performing in Nigeria and Ghana. [143] Her collaboration "Clout" was nominated for a Grammy Award for Best Rap Performance. [144] She was the most streamed female rapper of 2019 in the US, according to Spotify. [145] Consequence of Sound deemed her "one of the most formidable hip-hop artists of the decade." [146] In March 2020, Cardi B created a reaction video about the coronavirus pandemic. DJ iMarkkeyz, a Brooklyn DJ known for turning memes and online moments into full-length songs, created a track, based on her reaction titled "Coronavirus", which became an internet meme and was released to music platforms. [147] Netflix announced the return of Rhythm + Flow for  $2021.^{[148]}$ 

Cardi B released the single "WAP" featuring American rapper Megan Thee Stallion on August 7, 2020 as the lead single off her forthcoming second studio album. The song received critical acclaim and was praised for its sex positive messages. The Colin Tilley-directed music video accompanied the song itself, and broke the record for the biggest 24-hour debut for an all-female collaboration on YouTube. She became the only female rap artist to top the Global Spotify chart multiple times. WAP" debuted at number-one on the Billboard Hot 100 chart, garnering Cardi B her fourth chart-topper in the US, extending her record as the female rapper with the most number-one singles, and also making her the first female rapper to achieve Hot 100 number one singles in two different decades (2010s and 2020s). With 93 million streaming units, it became the largest first-week streams for a song, breaking the all-time record held by Ariana Grande's "7 Rings". It has spent four weeks atop the Hot 100. The single has also spent multiple weeks at number one in seven other countries, including Australia and the United Kingdom. Neil Shah of The Wall Street Journal deemed it "a big moment for female rappers" and "a historic sign that women artists are making their mark on hip-hop like never before". [153] "WAP" became the first number one single on the inaugural Billboard Global 200 chart.

# **Artistry**

#### **Influences**

In <u>Billboard</u>'s "You Should Know" series, Cardi B said the first albums she ever purchased were by American entertainers <u>Missy Elliott</u> and <u>Tweet</u>, respectively. She has credited Puerto Rican rapper <u>Ivy Queen</u> and Jamaican dance hall artist <u>Spice</u> as influences, as well as <u>Lady Gaga</u>, <u>Lil' Kim</u>, <u>Madonna</u>, and Selena. When asked about the initial direction for her music, Cardi B said in an interview,

"When I first started rapping [...] I liked certain songs from Khia and Trina, and they [were] fighting songs. I haven't heard fighting songs for a very long time," crediting the two female rappers for her aggressive rap style. She continued, saying "a lot of girls they cannot afford red bottoms, a lot of girls they cannot afford foreign cars [...] but I know that every girl has beef with a girl [...] I know that every bitch don't like some bitch, and it's like 'that's what I wanna rap about." [160][161]

She also credits growing up in the South Bronx and real life experiences as influences for her songwriting; "I wouldn't be able to rap about the things that I rap about now [if I hadn't grown up there]." [17]

## **Musical style**

Her first studio album, <code>Invasion of Privacy</code>, is primarily a <code>hip</code> hop record, which comprises elements of <code>trap</code>, <code>Latin music</code>, and <code>R&B</code>. <code>[88][162]</code> <code>Consequence of Sound</code> described her flow as "acrobatic and nimble." <code>[163]</code> AllMusic editor David Jeffries called Cardi B "a raw and aggressive rapper". <code>[6]</code> <code>Stereogum</code> called her voice "a full-bodied New Yawk nasal bleat, the sort of thing that you've heard if someone has ever told you that you stupid for taking too long at swiping your <code>MetroCard</code>." They continued to call her voice "an unabashedly loud and sexual fuck-you New York honk—that translates perfectly to <code>rap</code>." <code>[164]</code> In a 2017 <code>Complex</code> article about her, the editor wrote "unapologetic does not begin to describe the totally unfiltered and sheer Cardi B-ness of Cardi B's personality. She's a hood chick who's not afraid to be hood no matter the setting. Cardi B is Cardi B <code>24/7, 365</code>, this is why she resonates with people, and that same energy comes out in her music." <code>[165]</code> Her <code>flow</code> has been described as aggressive. <code>[166][167]</code> Cardi B has defended her musical content primarily comprising sexually-charged lyrics—like most contemporary female rappers; she stated that the content "seems like that's what people want to hear", since she faced negative reactions after releasing her more emotional song, "Be <code>Careful</code>." <code>[168][169]</code>

# Other ventures

In February 2017, she partnered with M.A.C and Rio Uribe's Gypsy Sport for an event for New York Fashion Week. [49] During an April 2017 interview with *HotNewHipHop*, Cardi B spoke on being rejected by fashion designers. [170] Her April appearance in <u>i-D</u>'s "A-Z of Music" video was sponsored by designer Marc Jacobs, [54] and she made the cover of <u>The Fader</u>'s July/August 2017 Summer Music issue. [67] <u>Tom Ford</u>'s Cardi B-inspired lipstick, and named after her, was released in September 2018. It sold out within 24 hours. [171] In November, she partnered with <u>Reebok</u>, promoting the brand's Aztrek sneaker. [172] The same month she released a clothing line collection with Fashion Nova.

Cardi B teamed up with <u>Pepsi</u> for two television commercials, which aired during the <u>Super Bowl LIII</u> and the <u>61st Annual Grammy Awards</u>. [174] In early 2019, Cardi also joined other hip hop artists (including her husband <u>Offset</u>, as part of <u>Migos</u>) in releasing her flavors of snack food Rap Snacks: two flavors of chips, and two of popcorn. The bags' artwork were inspired by the cover of *Invasion of Privacy*. [175]

# **Public image**

Cardi B identifies as a <u>feminist</u>. [176][177] <u>The New York Times</u> wrote "on *Love & Hip Hop: New York* some viewers saw her as a hero of <u>female empowerment</u>, as she made pronouncements such as 'Ever since I started using guys, I feel so much better about myself. I feel so damn powerful." [178]

#### **Political statements**

The star has been called "unabashedly, directly political" and often uses social media to advocate for causes she believes in, such as gun control. During the 2016 presidential primaries, she warned her fans of President Trump's immigration policies and encouraged them to vote for Senator Bernie Sanders. At the Grammy Awards in 2018, she appeared in a video along with Hillary Clinton to narrate a portion of Fire and Fury, Michael Wolff's insider's account of Trump's administration, and stated "Why am I even reading this shit? I can't believe this. I can't believe—this is how he really lives his life?" Cardi B endorsed Sanders once again in his second bid for the presidency in the 2020 United States presidential election, while also praising U.S. Representative Tim Ryan. She also stated that one of the reasons for her endorsement is Sanders' long-time involvement in supporting underprivileged minorities and "people getting Medicare because he knows they can't afford it," while Politico website argued that she "might be one of Bernie's most powerful 2020 allies." She has also used her social pages to raise awareness for victims of police brutality, and has encouraged people to vote for mayors, judges and district attorneys in local elections. In a conversation with Democratic candidate Joe Biden for Elle, they discussed Medicare, free college tuition, and racial equality.

She has praised President Franklin D. Roosevelt for advocating for the Social Security program and the New Deal project in general and has noted her admiration for his wife Eleanor Roosevelt's humanitarianism and advocacy for African-Americans. She said of President Roosevelt, "he helped us get over the Depression, all while he was in a wheelchair. Like, this man was suffering from polio at the time of his presidency, and yet all he was worried about was trying to make America great—make America great again for real. He's the real 'Make America Great Again,' because if it wasn't for him, old people wouldn't even get Social Security. Sanders himself has praised her for her "leading role" in calling attention to Social Security. During the 2018–19 United States federal government shutdown she released a video on Instagram, where she said "our country is a hellhole right now".

On October 8, 2020, Cardi B. posted a message on her Instagram condoning Azerbaijan for attacking Armenia and asked her followers to donate to <u>Armenia Fund</u>, a humanitarian organization that supports Armenia's development and the needy. The next day she removed the message and apologized to her followers for posting such a message and instead she said she is just in favor of ending the war. She stated "I woke up this morning and I'm seeing that me and my baby father are getting attacked," apparently many Azerbaijanians attacked her, which resulted in her removing the message. [192][193]

#### **Controversies**

Cardi B caused controversy after throwing one of her high heel shoes at, and attempting to physically fight, fellow rapper Nicki Minaj at an after-party hosted by Harper's Bazaar during New York Fashion Week 2018. She later stated that Minaj had previously "liked" comments made by other users on social media who spoke negatively about Cardi B's abilities to take care of her newly born daughter. Minaj denied the accusations. Nevertheless, she covered the spring fashion issue of Harper's Bazaar in early 2019, featuring her in a Cinderella-themed photo shoot wearing a red gown and leaving a shoe behind, which some writers found reflective of the incident.

After the release of "<u>Girls</u>" in May 2018, a collaboration where she had a featured verse, Cardi B responded to the accusations of the song trivializing and sexualizing <u>LGBT</u> relationships. She stated on Twitter, "We never try to cause harm or had bad intentions with the song." <u>Cardi B</u> then went on to say, "I personally myself had experiences with other women." [199]

In March 2019, a livestream from Instagram resurfaced from 2016 where she can be heard claiming that in the past she "had drugged and robbed men" who willingly came with her to hotel rooms for sex. [200] She stated that the men she referred to were conscious, willing and aware; [201][202] they were getting "twisted in the club" before approaching her, and denied putting anything on a man's drink. She added that she took some money from them because they wasted her time by falling asleep, and then "kept coming back." [203] She concluded by saying that at the time she had very limited options to survive, and feels a responsibility not to glorify it. [201]

#### **Fashion**

Cardi has a noted affinity for <u>Christian Louboutin</u> heels, a running theme in her song "Bodak Yellow". [64] She has also mentioned her affinity for cheap, fast-fashion brands stating "I don't care if it cost \$20 or \$15. If it looks good on me, it looks good on me". [204] In November 2018 she released a collection with Fashion Nova. [173] Cardi wore vintage <u>Thierry Mugler</u> to the 2018 Grammy Awards. An article from *Vogue* noted she "is famous for her statement getups—whether she's rocking archival Mugler on the red carpet, or dripping in Chanel while sitting courtside at a basketball game." [205] Her over-the-top manicures, designed by <u>nail artist</u> Jenny Bui and studded with Swarovski crystals, has become a part of her signature look. [206]

In 2018, she became the first female rapper in the US to appear on the cover of <u>Vogue</u>. Photographed by <u>Annie Leibovitz</u>, the cover, one of four for the January 2019 issue that included <u>Stella McCartney</u>, <u>[207]</u> features her in a red and white <u>Michael Kors</u> dress and matching red <u>Jimmy Choo</u> shoes, while holding her daughter, Kulture.

In 2019, the Council of Fashion Designers of America included her on their list of "28 Black Fashion Forces". (209)

Cardi B became the face of <u>Balenciaga</u>'s ad campaign for the winter 2020 season. The campaign includes billboards in several international locations, including the <u>Louvre</u> museum. *Vogue*'s Brooke Bobb commented, "This is Cardi's first campaign for a luxury fashion house, though she's definitely no stranger to the Parisian style scene", citing her floral printed <u>Richard Quinn</u> ensemble "that literally covered her from head to toe" and her being "a front row fixture" at <u>high fashion</u> shows, adding, "She and her stylist Kollin Carter have been wildly successful in carving out a much-needed space for Cardi within the fashion industry, and they've cultivated a personal style that is all her own while being inspiring to all". [210]

# **Impact**

Multiple publications, including Billboard, The Hollywood Reporter, and Entertainment Weekly, have called her "Hip Hop's Reigning Queen" since the release of Invasion of Privacy. [139][211][212][213][214] Spin staff credited her for opening "the table to a new generation of pop artists remaking American music in their own image and accents. [Cardi B] recognized that POC artists no longer need to pander or soften themselves in order to become household names." [215] An article from *Uproxx* noted Cardi B for promoting up-and-coming female rappers: "[she is] choosing to use her position at the height of stardom to open doors for other women to flourish in hip-hop at a greater level than any since the Golden Era and "Ladies First". This is something of a departure from tradition; for the decade previous to Cardi's precipitous come-up, it seemed hip-hop had an unspoken, Highlander-esque rule in place regarding women." [216] The New Yorker also credited her for "changing a genre that has rarely allowed for more than one female superstar at a time." [217] Billboard editors stated that with "Bodak Yellow"'s commercial success, "she left an indelible mark on the summer of 2017, not only because she rewrote history, but she gave hope to the have nots...". [218] "I Like It" became the first Latin trap song to reach number one on the Hot 100, which reflected "the times, the moment and the new openness" of the world" towards Spanish-infused music in streaming services according to the magazine. [2] In 2020, *The Wall Street Journal*'s Neil Shah stated that "today's female-rap renaissance was sparked partly by the success of Cardi B", while Genius staff credited her for "helping jumpstart a new wave of female hip-hop signings and promotion at labels". [153][219]

NPR defined "Cardi B effect" as "a branding power rooted in specific authenticity, created and permeated by rapper Cardi B" and noticed that with her breakthrough, "brands finally started to become hip to [her] effect, noticing the cultural markers outside of the rap world that were proving it wasn't limited to clubs, concerts and radio."

Business magazine *Inc.* stated that her success "shows how social media changed everything we knew about traditional marketing and media", which no longer relies on a "well-thought marketing scheme or millions of dollars in advertising."

Articles by *Vogue* and *The Telegraph* have referred to her as a "fashion icon for our times."

[222][223] In 2019, a life-sized sculpture of her was on display at the Brooklyn Museum, as part of Spotify's RapCaviar "Pantheon".

[224] Bloomberg reported that her data bill helped to boost Ghana's GDP growth in 2019, after it was part of a concert tour.

[225] She inspired the creation of the sitcom *Partners in Rhyme*, executively produced by MC Lyte about a young woman in high school who "aspires to be the next Cardi B."

[226] P-Valley creator Katori Hall credited her influence for "helping prepare the public" for the storyline depicted in the TV series.

[227] Singer-songwriter Rosalía has cited her among her influences.

[228] Cardi B has been credited for supporting and uniting female rappers in the industry.

## **Achievements**

Cardi B is the recipient of numerous accolades, including a <u>Grammy Award</u>, seven <u>Billboard Music Awards</u>, five <u>Guinness World Records</u>, four <u>American Music Awards</u>, four <u>MTV Video Music Awards</u>, four <u>BET Awards</u>, and eleven <u>BET Hip Hop Awards</u>. <u>Time</u> included her on their <u>annual list</u> of the 100 most influential people in the world in 2018. She received the <u>ASCAP</u> award for <u>Songwriter of the Year</u> in 2019, becoming the first female rapper to win the award. She received the honor for the second time in 2020, making her the first female songwriter to win the award twice.

Cardi B is the female rapper with the most Billboard Hot 100 number one singles  $(4)^{[95]}$  and the one with the most total weeks on the top position (15). [102] "Bodak Yellow"—certified nonuple platinum by the Recording Industry Association of America (RIAA)—became the highest-certified single by a female rapper. [234] "I Like It" became the first song led by a female rapper to surpass a billion streams on Spotify, also making her the first woman in hip hop with multiple billion-streamers on the service, with a total of three so far. [235][236] Invasion of Privacy was the top female rap album of the 2010s, according to the Billboard 200 decade-end chart. [237] It also became the longest-charting album by a female rapper on the Billboard 200, [238] and the most-streamed album by a female rapper on Spotify. [239] Invasion of Privacy—which made her the first female rapper to win the Counter Grammy Award for Best Rap Album as a solo artist—became the first female rap album in fifteen years to be nominated for a Counter Grammy Award for Album of the Year. [124][240] Rolling Stone

and *Billboard* ranked her debut album number 13 and 34 on their critics' lists of best albums of the 2010s respectively, both the highest rank for a female rapper for the decade. [241][242]

## Personal life

Cardi B is Catholic; [243] she has mentioned her "strong relationship" with God in interviews, often saying that she directly communicates with God. [244][245][246]

Cardi B's younger sister, Hennessy Carolina, also has a strong following on social media and has accompanied her to award shows, such as the 2017 Grammy Awards. [247]

In an interview in 2018, Cardi talked about being  $\underline{\text{Afro-Latina}}$  and  $\underline{\text{Afro-Caribbean}}$ :

We are Caribbean people [...] Some people want to decide if you're black or not, depending on your skin complexion, because they don't understand Caribbean people or our culture. I feel like people need to understand or get a passport and travel. I don't got to tell you that I'm black. I expect you to know about it. When my father taught me about Caribbean countries, he told me that these Europeans took over our lands. That's why we all speak different languages [...] Just like everybody else, we came over here the same way. I hate when people try to take my roots from me. Because we know that there's African roots inside of us...<sup>[248]</sup>



Cardi B at <u>Pinnacle Bank Arena</u> in 2019

She has been a resident of <u>Edgewater</u>, <u>New Jersey</u>, renting an apartment for \$3,000 a month that she says would be twice as much in <u>Manhattan</u> for an equivalently sized unit. [249][250]

Cardi has opened up about the #MeToo movement and being sexually assaulted. [251][252][253][254]

# Relationships

As of early 2017, Cardi B began publicly dating fellow American rapper Offset, of the southern hip hop group Migos. [64] When speaking on her relationship with Offset, Cardi B told *The Fader*, "It's been a blessing, me meeting him and meeting his friends. I see how hard they work. And that motivated me to work even harder. And I see how good things are going for them and how popping it is to be number one. And I'm like, I want that. A lot of people just see they jewelry and they money, but I don't think a lot of people see how hard they work for that shit every single day." [3] Cardi B and Offset became engaged on October 27, after Offset proposed to Cardi B at the Wells Fargo Center in Philadelphia, during the Power 99 Powerhouse concert. [255] On April 7, 2018, Cardi B revealed that she was pregnant with Offset's child on Saturday Night Live. [256] On June 25, 2018, TMZ found a marriage license revealing Cardi B and Offset had secretly married in September 2017 privately in their bedroom. Cardi B later went on to confirm this revelation in a social media post. [257] In July 2018, Cardi B gave birth to her first child, a daughter named Kulture Kiari Cephus. [258] In December 2018 she announced on Instagram that she and Offset had broken up, though the pair later reunited. [259][260]

In February 2019, the couple made a public appearance for the Grammys. [261] He accompanied her on the stage during her acceptance speech for Best Rap Album. [262] In September 2020, it was reported that Cardi B has filed for divorce. [263][264]

## Legal issues

On October 1, 2018, Cardi B agreed to meet with investigators at a Queens police station, in connection with an alleged attack she ordered on two bartenders. Cardi B's denied involvement through her attorney. She was charged with two misdemeanors: assault and reckless endangerment. Cardi B appeared in court for her arraignment on December 7, 2018, after she failed to show up for the originally scheduled date due to a scheduling conflict, according to her attorney. She was ordered by the judge to avoid having any contact with the two bartenders. She was released by the judge despite prosecutors requesting bail to be set at \$2,500. On June 21, 2019, a grand jury indicted Cardi B on 14 charges, including two counts of felony assault with intent to cause serious physical injury, stemming from the incident. She was arraigned on June 25, 2019 and pleaded not guilty on all charges.

# **Discography**

#### Studio albums

■ Invasion of Privacy (2018)

# **Filmography**

#### Television

Year	Title	Role	Notes	
2015– 17	Love & Hip Hop: New York		Main cast, seasons 6–7	
2015	Uncommon Sense with Charlamagne	Herself	Season 1, episode: 23	
2016	Kocktails with Khloé		Season 1, episode: "Khloé Kardashian Spills the Tea"	
2017	Being Mary Jane	Mercedes	Season 4, episode: "Getting Real"	
	Hip Hop Squares	Herself, panelist	Season 1, episodes: "Ray J vs Princess Love", "Jessica White vs Joe Budden"	
2018	Saturday Night Live	Herself, musical guest	Episode: "Chadwick Boseman/Cardi B"	
	The Tonight Show Starring Jimmy Fallon	Herself, co- host	Episode: "Cardi B/John Mulaney"	
2019	Untold Stories of Hip Hop	Herself	Episode: "Cardi B & Snoop Dogg"	
	Rhythm + Flow	Herself, judge	Netflix, also executive producer	

#### Films

Year	Title	Role	Notes
2019	Hustlers	Diamond	
2021	F9	Leysa	Post-production

## **Concert tours**

#### Headlining

■ 2019 Arena Tour (2019)[136]

#### **Supporting**

■ The Lox – Filthy America... It's Beautiful (2017)

## See also

- Afro-Caribbean music
- Black Hispanic and Latino Americans
- LGBT culture in New York City
- List of self-identifying LGBTQ New Yorkers

## References

- 1. "CARDIB | KSR Group" (https://ksrgroupllc.com/cardi-b/).
- 2. Cobo, Leila (July 3, 2018). <u>"The Times Have Changed: What 'I Like It' Hitting No. 1 Means to Latin Music"</u> (https://www.billboard.com/articles/columns/latin/8463929/-i-like-it-hitting-no-1-me ans-to-latin-music-billboard-chart-cardi-b-j-balvin-bad-bunny). *Billboard*. Retrieved July 6, 2018.
- 3. Kameir, Rawiwa (June 22, 2017). "Cardi B Did It Her Way" (http://www.thefader.com/2017/06/2 2/cardi-b-cover-story-interview). *The Fader*. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 4. "iamcardib on Twitter: "A lot of people calling me a immigrant lol my mum is Trini &spaniard my pop Dominican i was born in wash heights raised in The Bronx" " (https://twitter.com/iamcardib/status/723232018004361217). Twitter. April 21, 2016. Retrieved April 4, 2019.
- 5. "Cardi B: Unfiltered, Unapologetic, Unbowed" (https://www.vogue.com/article/cardi-b-cover-january-2020). *Vogue*.
- 6. Yeung, Neil Z. "Cardi B Biography" (https://www.allmusic.com/artist/cardi-b-mn0003493912/biography). AllMusic.com. Retrieved April 8, 2018.
- 7. "Cardi B's So-Called Life" (http://www.thefader.com/2016/02/29/cardi-b-interview). Retrieved April 22, 2018.
- 8. "Cardi B talks sexuality, society and being straight-up | Dazed" (http://www.dazeddigital.com/m usic/article/32897/1/cardi-b-interview). Dazeddigital.com. September 16, 2016. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 9. "iamcardib on Twitter: "I'm from HIGHBRIDGE" " (https://twitter.com/iamcardib/status/79913111 1532150784). Twitter. November 16, 2016. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 10. "Cardi B on Twitter: "Just a bum bitch from Highbridge" " (https://twitter.com/imcardib/status/770 774107046707200?lang=en). Twitter. August 30, 2016. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 11. Salud, April (April 25, 2017). "Cardi B Shares 5 Things You Should Know About Her" (https://www.billboard.com/articles/columns/hip-hop/7874192/carbi-b-5-things-you-know-about-her-vide o). *Billboard*. Retrieved July 25, 2017.
- 12. Overdeep, Meghan (November 7, 2017). "Cardi B Reveals How She Got Her Unique Name" (h ttps://www.instyle.com/celebrity/cardi-b-reveals-name-origin). *InStyle*. Retrieved October 29, 2018.

- 13. "iamcardib on Twitter: "Bitch I been a big time Blood since I was 16 sooo fuck is you talking bout ..ya just never peep it " " (https://twitter.com/iamcardib/status/861019973078183936?lang=en). Twitter. May 6, 2017. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 14. "Cardi B. Blood Anthem Music Video 'Red Bars'" (https://bossip.com/1547326/new-cardi-b-blood-anthem-music-video-red-bars-video/). Bossip.com. April 6, 2017. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 15. Weber, Caity Weaver, Christian (April 9, 2018). "Cardi B on Her Unstoppable Rise, Repping Gang Life, and the Peril of Butt Injections" (https://www.gq.com/story/cardi-b-invasion-of-privacy-profile). *GQ*. Retrieved April 9, 2018.
- 16. "Cardi B Gets Emotional Talking to Students at Her High School" (https://www.ebony.com/new s/cardi-b-emotional-talking-students-high-school/). *Ebony*. November 30, 2018.
- 17. Decker, Megan (May 14, 2018). <u>"You Definitely Didn't Know These Fun Facts About Cardi B"</u> (https://www.harpersbazaar.com/celebrity/latest/g20634894/cardi-b-trivia-facts/). *Harper's BAZAAR*. Retrieved May 7, 2019.
- 18. "Here Are 14 Things You Never Knew About Cardi B" (https://www.narcity.com/entertainment/here-are-14-things-you-never-knew-about-cardi-b). Retrieved March 20, 2018.
- 19. "Cardi B's So-Called Life" (https://web.archive.org/web/20160302093343/http://www.thefader.com/2016/02/29/Cardi-b-interview). *The FADER*. Archived from the original (http://www.thefader.com/2016/02/29/Cardi-b-interview) on March 2, 2016.
- 20. "'Love & Hip-Hop' Star Cardi B Says Stripping Changed Her Life" (https://web.archive.org/web/ 20160116030744/http://www.centrictv.com/entertainment/celebrity-news/articles/2016/01/13/lov e-hip-hop-star-cardi-b-says-stripping-changed-her-life.html). Centrictv.com. January 13, 2016. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 21. "#OneCrazyAssStory Cardi B's Basement Butt Job" (https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=hDg mZ0 PeT0). YouTube. March 1, 2016.
- 22. "Flashback: Cardi B on How Stripping Influenced Her Cosmetic Surgery" (https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=m9 Q3KVVu2k). YouTube. September 26, 2017. Retrieved October 4, 2017.
- 23. Estevez, Marjua (November 15, 2016). "Cardi B Doesn't Give A F\*\*k, And Neither Should You (Digital Cover)" (https://www.vibe.com/featured/cardi-b-digital-cover/). Vibe.com. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 24. "How Cardi B Told Her Mom She Was a Stripper Kocktails with Khloe FYI" (https://m.youtube.c om/watch?v=xbwgkVkezCQ).
- 25. "#LHHNY Cardi B. Says She Started Stripping To Escape Domestic Violence" (https://bossip.com/1272886/lhhnys-cardi-b-says-she-started-stripping-to-escape-poverty-and-domestic-abuse-video/). Bossip.com. January 18, 2016. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 26. Carter, Terry (August 2, 2018). <u>"7 Fun Facts About Cardi B, the Feminist Rapper Taking Over the Music Industry" (https://www.popsugar.com/celebrity/Who-Cardi-B-43830130)</u>. *Popsugar.com*. Retrieved October 27, 2018.
- 27. Mantini, Natalia. "Cardi B on 'Love & Hip Hop,' Haters and Hoeism" (http://www.complex.com/p op-culture/2015/12/cardi-b-interview-pictures). *Complex.com*. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 28. "30 Eccentric Facts About Cardi B" (https://www.thefactsite.com/cardi-b-facts/). *The Fact Site*. July 2, 2018. Retrieved May 7, 2019.
- 29. Kameir, Rawiya (February 29, 2016). "Cardi B's So-Called Life" (http://www.thefader.com/2016/02/29/cardi-b-interview). *The Fader*. Retrieved July 2, 2017.
- 30. Hope, Clover. "America Loves Cardi B, Love & Hip-Hop's Best New Cast Member" (https://the muse.jezebel.com/america-loves-cardi-b-love-hip-hops-best-new-cast-me-1751169948).
- 31. "Cardi B Announces Decision To Leave Cast Of Love & Hip Hop: New York" (http://hiphopwire d.com/530825/cardi-b-leaving-love-hip-hop/). Hip-Hop Wired. December 30, 2016. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 32. "Hate It Or Love It?!?! Shaggy Feat. Popcaan & Cardi B "Boom Boom" [Listen]" (https://bossi p.com/1256939/hate-it-or-love-it-shaggy-feat-popcaan-cardi-b-boom-boom-listen/). Bossip. November 26, 1997.

- 33. "Cardi B Drops Music Video "Cheap Ass Weave" " (http://www.vh1.com/news/231149/cardi-b-music-video-cheap-ass-weave/). VH1. December 15, 2015. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 34. "Cardi B "Cheap Ass Weave" [Music Video]" (http://masetv.com/cardi-b-cheap-ass-weave-music-video/). *MaseTV.com.* December 18, 2015. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 35. "Cardi B Gangsta Bitch Music Vol 1 Mixtape Stream & Download" (http://www.datpiff.com/C ardi-B-Gangsta-Bitch-Music-Vol-1-mixtape.770917.html). *Datpiff.com*. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 36. "Cardi B's 'Gangsta Bitch Music Vol. 1' Is the First Good Record to Come Out of 'Love and Hip-Hop'" (https://noisey.vice.com/en\_us/article/ryzjz5/cardi-b-gangsta-bitch-music-vol-1-love-and-hip-hop). *Noisey.vice.com*. November 15, 2016. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 37. "Cardi B Is Everybody's Homegirl In 'VIBE Viva' Cover Shoot" (http://www.hypehair.com/71935/cardi-b-is-everybodys-homegirl-vibe-viva-cover/). *Hypehair.com*. November 16, 2016. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 38. "Cardi B & The KSR Group Drop 'The Underestimated' Mixtape [AUDIO] HOT 97 #1 For Hip Hop" (http://www.hot97.com/news/ebro-morning/cardi-b-ksr-group-drop-underestimated-mixtape-audio).
- 39. "Bonus Behind the Sense: Women's Intuition & Cardi B Joins the Holiday Fun Uncommon Sense Live" (http://www.mtv.com/video-clips/gaqe5e/uncommon-sense-live-behind-the-sense-women-s-intuition-cardi-b-joins-the-holiday-fun). MTV. December 9, 2016. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 40. "Watch How Cardi B Told Her Mom She Was a Stripper Video Kocktails With Khloe | FYI" (htt p://www.fyi.tv/shows/kocktails-with-khloe/season-1/episode-12/how-cardi-b-told-her-mom-shewas-a-stripper). Fyi.tv. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 41. <u>"Tisha Campbell & Cardi B On Kocktails With Khloe" (https://bossip.com/1300596/tisha-campbell-cardi-b-on-kocktails-with-khloe-crying-never-having-sex-with-a-white-guy-a-pass-to-cheat-and-more-video/)</u>. *Bossip.com*. April 7, 2016. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 42. "Cardi B Joins the Cast of BET's Being Mary Jane" (http://www.vh1.com/news/289181/cardi-b-joins-cast-of-bets-being-mary-jane/). VH1. November 2, 2016. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 43. "Cardi B Joins Being Mary Jane Cast" (https://web.archive.org/web/20180302183711/http://www.latina.com/entertainment/tv/cardi-b-being-mary-jane-cast-season-four). Latina.com. January 5, 2017. Archived from the original (http://www.latina.com/entertainment/tv/cardi-b-being-mary-jane-cast-season-four) on March 2, 2018. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 44. Saunders, Cherie (January 31, 2017). "Mary Jane Goes Viral After Reading Cardi B. on Tonight's 'Being Mary Jane' (Watch Clip)" (http://www.eurweb.com/2017/01/mary-jane-goes-viral-reading-cardi-b-tonights-mary-jane-watch-clip/#). EURweb.com. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 45. "Cardi B Once Played With a Massive Dildo in Local Sex Toy Store Ad" (https://www.billboard.c om/articles/news/7980785/cardi-b-local-sex-toy-store-ad-watch). *Billboard*. Retrieved March 29, 2019.
- 46. Miller, Gregory E. (April 5, 2018). "Cardi B's meteoric rise from stripper to superstar" (https://nypost.com/2018/04/05/cardi-bs-meteoric-rise-from-stripper-to-superstar/). New York Post. Retrieved March 29, 2019.
- 47. lvey, Justin (January 20, 2017). "Stream Cardi B's 'Gangsta Bitch Music Vol. 2' Mixtape XXL" (http://www.xxlmag.com/news/2017/01/cardi-b-gangsta-bitch-music-vol-2-mixtape/). XXL. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 48. Espinoza, Joshua (January 20, 2017). "Cardi B 'Gangsta Bitch Music Vol. 2" Mixtape" (http://www.complex.com/music/2017/01/cardi-b-gangsta-bitch-music-volume-2-mixtape). Complex.com. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 49. "Cardi B For MAC Cosmetics x Gypsy Sport Event!1966 Magazine" (http://www.1966mag.com/cardi-b-mac-cosmetics-x-gypsy-sport-event/). 1966mag.com. February 8, 2017. Retrieved July 17, 2017.

- 50. "Cardi B Reportedly Signs Deal With Atlantic Records" (https://www.hotnewhiphop.com/cardi-b reportedly-signs-deal-with-atlantic-records-news.29510.html). *Hotnewhiphop.com*. February 28, 2017. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 51. "Cardi B Reportedly Signs Mega Deal With Atlantic Records" (http://www.vibe.com/2017/03/car di-b-atlantic-records/). *Vibe.com*. March 1, 2017. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 52. "The LOX Announce 'Filthy America...It's Beautiful Tour' With Lil Kim & Remy Ma" (https://www.billboard.com/articles/columns/hip-hop/7669037/the-lox-filthy-america-its-beautiful-tour-dates). *Billboard*. January 25, 2017. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 53. Burgess, Omar. "Remy Ma Is Already Performing "ShETHER" on Tour With Lil Kim" (http://www.complex.com/music/2017/02/remy-ma-already-performing-shether-tour-lil-kim).

  Complex.com. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 54. "i-D's 'A-Z of Music' Video & Composition Featuring Kodie Shane, Cardi B & More: Exclusive" (https://www.billboard.com/articles/news/lifestyle/7752576/i-d-a-z-of-music-video-composition-marc-jacobs-kodie-shane-cardi-b). *Billboard*. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 55. "Ice Cube, T.I. and More Help Kick Off 'VH1 Hip Hop Squares' XXL" (http://www.xxlmag.com/news/2017/03/vh1-hip-hop-squares-ice-cube/). Xxlmag.com. March 13, 2017. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 56. "Adrienne Bailon Has An Unhealthy Obsession With Cardi B Hip Hop Squares" (http://www.vhl.com/video-clips/kgtrlu/hip-hop-squares-adrienne-bailon-has-an-unhealthy-obsession-with-cardi-b). VH1. April 3, 2013. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 57. "Cardi B's Reaction to Being Nominated for a BET Award Is Too Cute | Music | News" (http://www.bet.com/music/2017/05/15/cardi-b-reaction-to-being-nominated-for-a-bet-award.html).

  BET.com. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 58. Norwin, Alyssa (June 23, 2017). "Cardi B Fears Winning BET Award Over 'Idol' Remy Ma: It Would Be 'Awkward' Hollywood Life" (http://hollywoodlife.com/2017/06/23/cardi-b-remy-ma-b et-awards-female-hip-hop-artist/). Hollywoodlife.com. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 59. "Cardi B Runs Through A Medley Of Songs At BET Awards After-Party (VIDEO)" (https://allhip.hop.com/2017/06/26/cardi-b-runs-through-a-medley-of-songs-at-bet-awards-after-party-video/). *Allhiphop.com*. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 60. Williams, Aaron (June 26, 2017). "Cardi B's BET Afterparty Performance Proves She Was Robbed At The Show" (http://uproxx.com/realtalk/cardi-b-bet-afterparty-performance/). Uproxx.com. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 61. "Did Cardi B Betray Nicki Minaj?" (https://allhiphop.com/2017/06/13/cardi-b-betray-nicki-minaj/). *Allhiphop.com*. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 62. "Remy Ma Disses Nicki Minaj at 2017 Summer Jam, Brings Cardi B, Lil Kim on Stage XXL" (http://www.xxlmag.com/news/2017/06/remy-ma-nicki-minaj-summer-jam-screen-cardi-b-stag e/). Xxlmag.com. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 63. Williams, Aaron (June 22, 2017). "Cardi B's Atlantic Records Deal Is Confirmed In Her 'Fader' Cover" (http://uproxx.com/realtalk/cardi-b-fader-interview-atlantic-records/). *Uproxx.com*. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 64. Nikas, Joanna (August 17, 2017). "An Afternoon With Cardi B as She Makes Money Moves" (ht tps://www.nytimes.com/2017/08/17/fashion/cardi-b-bodak-yellow.html). *The New York Times*. Retrieved April 8, 2018.
- 65. "Cardi B Is All About the Cash on New Song 'Bodak Yellow (Money Moves)' XXL" (http://www.xxlmag.com/rap-music/new-music/2017/06/cardi-b-bodak-yellow-money-moves/). Xxlmag.com. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 66. "New Music: Cardi B 'Bodak Yellow (Money Moves)' " (http://www.rap-up.com/2017/06/16/ne w-music-cardi-b-bodak-yellow-money-moves/). Rap-Up. June 16, 2017. Retrieved July 17, 2017.

- 67. "Wendy Williams Cardi B Performs "Bodak Yellow" " (https://web.archive.org/web/201709230 82045/http://www.wendyshow.com/2017/07/18/cardi-b-performs-bodak-yellow/). Wendyshow.com. Archived from the original (http://www.wendyshow.com/2017/07/18/cardi-b-performs-bodak-yellow/) on September 23, 2017. Retrieved October 4, 2017.
- 68. "Cardi B Performs 'Bodak Yellow' On 'Jimmy Kimmel Live': Watch" (https://www.billboard.com/a rticles/news/8005938/cardi-b-performs-bodak-yellow-jimmy-kimmel-live-watch). *Billboard*. Retrieved April 28, 2018.
- 69. "Cardi B is now the first female solo rapper to top the Billboard 100 chart since 1998" (https://www.vox.com/culture/2017/9/25/16361722/cardi-b-bodak-yellow-number-1-taylor-swift).

  Vox.com. September 25, 2017. Retrieved October 4, 2017.
- 70. "Cardi B's "Bodak Yellow" Breaks Another Billboard Hot 100 Record" (https://www.hotnewhiphop.com/cardi-bs-bodak-yellow-breaks-another-billboard-hot-100-record-news.38201.html).
- 71. Trust, Gary. "J Balvin, Willy William & Beyoncé Blast to No. 3 on Billboard Hot 100 With 'Mi Gente', Cardi B No. 1 for Third Week" (https://www.billboard.com/articles/columns/chart-beat/79 90506/j-balvin-willy-william-beyonce-cardi-b-hot-100). *Billboard*. Retrieved October 9, 2017.
- 72. "Cardi B Becomes First Person of Dominican Descent to Reach No. 1 on the Billboard Hot 100" (http://remezcla.com/music/cardi-b-dominican-no-1-billboard-hot-100/). Remezcla.com. September 25, 2017. Retrieved October 4, 2017.
- 73. Richards, Chris (December 6, 2017). "Best music of 2017: Cardi B paints the world 'Bodak Yellow'" (https://www.washingtonpost.com/lifestyle/style/best-music-of-2017-cardi-b-paints-the-world-bodak-yellow/2017/12/06/cad4d6be-d5fc-11e7-95bf-df7c19270879\_story.html). The Washington Post. Retrieved December 6, 2017.
- 74. "The 100 Best Songs of 2017" (https://pitchfork.com/features/lists-and-guides/the-100-best-son gs-of-2017/). *Pitchfork*. December 10, 2017. Retrieved December 19, 2017.
- 75. *Grammy Nominations 2018* (https://variety.com/2017/music/news/2018-grammy-nominations-list-nominees-1202623881/), November 28, 2017
- 76. "Cardi B Performs" (http://www.xxlmag.com/news/2017/10/cardi-b-bodak-yellow-2017-bet-hip-hop-awards/). XXL Mag.
- 77. Zellner, Xander (December 19, 2017). "Cardi B Makes History on Hot 100 With Third Career-Opening Top 10" (https://www.billboard.com/biz/articles/8071054/cardi-b-makes-history-on-hot-100-with-third-career-opening-top-10). *Billboard*. Retrieved December 21, 2017.
- 78. Anderson, Trevor (November 10, 2017). "Cardi B Makes History With First Three Top 10s on Hot R&B/Hip-Hop Songs Chart" (https://www.billboard.com/articles/columns/chart-beat/803120 9/cardi-b-rb-hip-hop-charts-top-10-songs). *Billboard*. Retrieved November 12, 2017.
- 79. "The Weeknd, Migos, Lil Uzi Vert & Cardi B to Perform at Power 105.1's Powerhouse 2017" (htt ps://www.billboard.com/articles/columns/hip-hop/7942285/power-1051-powerhouse-2017-lineup). *Billboard.com*. Retrieved December 22, 2017.
- 80. Estevez, Marjua (December 19, 2017). "Ozuna & Cardi B Head to Jamaica to Trade Bilingual Rhymes in 'La Modelo' Video Debut: Watch" (https://www.billboard.com/articles/columns/latin/8 071078/ozuna-cardi-b-la-modelo-video-premiere). *Billboard*. Retrieved December 19, 2017.
- 81. "New Music: Cardi B feat. 21 Savage 'Bartier Cardi'" (http://www.rap-up.com/2017/12/21/new -music-cardi-b-21-savage-bartier-cardi/). Rap-Up. December 21, 2017. Retrieved December 22, 2017.
- 82. "Cardi B and Bruno Mars drop 'Finesse' listen now!" (https://ew.com/music/2018/01/03/cardib-bruno-mars-finesse/). *EW.com.* Retrieved January 8, 2018.
- 83. France, Lisa Respers. "Cardi B surpasses Beyoncé on the charts" (http://www.cnn.com/2018/0 1/18/entertainment/cardi-beyonce-chart-record/index.html). CNN. Retrieved January 19, 2018.
- 84. Clark, Anne Victoria. "Cardi B Drops New Single 'Be Careful' " (https://www.vulture.com/2018/0 3/new-cardi-b-single-be-careful-references-offset-affair.html). Vulture. Retrieved March 30, 2018.

- 85. Aniftos, Rania (March 26, 2018). "Cardi B Reveals 'Invasion of Privacy' Album Release Date & Cover Art" (https://www.billboard.com/articles/columns/hip-hop/8262168/cardi-b-invasion-of-pri vacy-album-release-date-cover-art). *Billboard*. Retrieved March 27, 2018.
- 86. Kaplan, Ilana (April 13, 2018). "Cardi B breaks Taylor Swift record on Apple Music with her debut album Invasion of Privacy" (https://www.independent.co.uk/arts-entertainment/music/new s/cardi-b-taylor-swift-invasion-of-privacy-apple-music-record-a8303356.html). *The Independent*. Retrieved July 27, 2018.
- 87. Asward, Jem (April 6, 2018). <u>"Album Review: Cardi B's 'Invasion of Privacy'" (https://variety.com/2018/music/reviews/album-review-cardi-bs-invasion-of-privacy-1202745897/)</u>. <u>Variety.</u> Retrieved April 9, 2018.
- 88. Caraminaca, Jon (April 10, 2018). "Cardi B Is a New Rap Celebrity Loyal to Rap's Old Rules on 'Invasion of Privacy'" (https://www.nytimes.com/2018/04/10/arts/music/cardi-b-invasion-of-privacy-review.html). The New York Times. Retrieved April 15, 2018.
- 89. Trust, Gary (March 16, 2018). "Cardi B Bests Beyonce for the Most Simultaneous Hot 100 Hits Among Women" (https://www.billboard.com/articles/columns/chart-beat/8342224/cardi-b-beyon ce-the-most-simultaneous-hot-100-hits-women). *Billboard*. Retrieved March 16, 2018.
- 90. Kaufman, Gil (April 13, 2018). "Cardi B Sets Apple Music Record For Most Streamed Album by Female Artist in One Week" (https://www.billboard.com/articles/columns/hip-hop/8312613/cardi -b-sets-apple-music-record-most-streamed-album-by-female-one-week). *Billboard*. Retrieved April 13, 2018.
- 91. Caulfield, Keith (March 15, 2018). "Cardi B's 'Invasion of Privacy' Debuts at No. 1 on Billboard 200 Chart" (https://www.billboard.com/articles/columns/chart-beat/8337801/cardi-b-invasion-of-privacy-debuts-at-no-1-on-billboard-200-album-chart). *Billboard*. Retrieved March 15, 2018.
- 92. McIntyre, Hugh (February 19, 2019). "Ariana Grande's New No. 1 Album Has The Biggest Streaming Week Ever For A Woman" (https://www.forbes.com/sites/hughmcintyre/2019/02/19/a riana-grandes-new-no-1-album-earns-the-biggest-streaming-week-ever-for-a-woman/#664d69 181072). Forbes. Retrieved June 18, 2019.
- 93. "Cardi B is Pregnant, Confirms Pregnancy on 'SNL'" (https://www.billboard.com/articles/news/8 297568/cardi-b-pregnant-snl). *Billboard*. April 8, 2018.
- 94. "Cardi B's Tonight Show Co-Hosting Gig Was a Stroke of Brilliance" (https://www.vanityfair.co m/hollywood/2018/04/cardi-b-invasion-of-privacy-tonight-show-co-host-jimmy-fallon). Vanity Fair. Retrieved April 28, 2018.
- 95. Trust, Gary (July 2, 2018). "Cardi B Becomes First Female Rapper With Two Billboard Hot 100 No. 1s, as 'I Like It', With Bad Bunny & J Balvin, Follows 'Bodak Yellow' to the Top" (https://www.billboard.com/articles/columns/chart-beat/8463605/cardi-b-i-like-it-hot-100-number-one-j-balvin-bad-bunny). *Billboard*. Retrieved July 2, 2018.
- 96. "What J-Lo and Shakira missed in their Super Bowl halftime show" (https://www.washingtonpo st.com/outlook/2020/02/04/what-j-lo-shakira-missed-their-super-bowl-half-time-show/). The Washington Post.
- 97. "Best Summer Songs of All Time" (https://www.rollingstone.com/music/music-lists/best-summer -songs-of-all-time-43407/i-like-it-cardi-b-bad-bunny-and-j-balvin-1003180/). *Rolling Stone*. May 24, 2020.
- 98. Trust, Gary (September 24, 2018). "Maroon 5 & Cardi B's 'Girls Like You' Hits No. 1 on Hot 100, Eminem & 5 Seconds of Summer New to Top 10" (https://www.billboard.com/articles/columns/c hart-beat/8476577/maroon-5-girls-like-you-hot-100-number-one-cardi-b). Billboard. Retrieved September 24, 2018.
- 99. "Halsey's 'Without Me' Tops Billboard Hot 100, Becoming Her First No. 1 as a Lead Artist" (http s://www.billboard.com/articles/columns/chart-beat/8492429/halsey-without-me-billboard-hot-10 0-number-one). *Billboard*. Retrieved April 18, 2019.
- 00. "IFPI Best Selling Singles 2018" (https://www.billboard.com/articles/business/8501278/ifpi-best -selling-singles-2018-camila-cabello-havana). *Billboard*. March 6, 2019. Retrieved March 6, 2019.

- 01. Trust, Gary (July 30, 2018). "Drake Tops Hot 100 For Third Week With 'In My Feelings,' Passes Rihanna For Most Weeks at No. 1 This Decade" (https://www.billboard.com/articles/columns/chart-beat/8467628/drake-in-my-feelings-number-one-third-week). Billboard. Retrieved July 30, 2018.
- 02. Trust, Gary (October 15, 2018). "Maroon 5 & Cardi B's 'Girls Like You' Tops Hot 100 For Fourth Week, Lady Gaga & Bradley Cooper Hit Top 10" (https://www.billboard.com/articles/columns/chart-beat/8479913/lady-gaga-bradley-cooper-hot-top-10-hot-100). Billboard. Retrieved October 16, 2018.
- 03. Trust, Gary (October 29, 2018). "Maroon 5 and Cardi B Rule Billboard Hot 100 For Sixth Week, Post Malone and Swae Lee Debut in Top 10" (https://www.billboard.com/articles/columns/chartbeat/8482102/maroon-5-cardi-b-rule-hot-100-sixth-week). *Billboard*. Retrieved October 30, 2018.
- 04. Trust, Gary (February 11, 2019). "Hot 100" (https://www.billboard.com/amp/articles/columns/chart-beat/8497755/ariana-grande-7-rings-hot-100-number-one-third-week). *Billboard*. Retrieved February 11, 2019.
- 05. Trust, Gary (September 20, 2019). "Stuck By Ya: Post Malone & Swae Lee's 'Sunflower' Ties Record For Most Weeks Spent in Hot 100's Top 10" (https://www.billboard.com/articles/busines s/chart-beat/8530582/post-malone-swae-lee-sunflower-ties-hot-100-top-10-record). Billboard. Retrieved September 20, 2019.
- 06. Holmes, Charles (December 21, 2018). "Cardi B Raps, Twerks, Breastfeeds In Extravagantly NSFW 'Money' Video" (https://www.rollingstone.com/music/music-news/cardi-b-money-video-nsfw-772173/). Rolling Stone. Retrieved December 21, 2018.
- 07. Nordyke, Kimberly (August 20, 2018). "VMAs: Winners List" (https://www.hollywoodreporter.co m/lists/2018-vmas-winners-see-complete-list-1135082). The Hollywood Reporter. Retrieved August 20, 2018.
- 08. Lewis, Hilary (September 12, 2018). <u>"American Music Awards: Drake, Cardi B Lead 2018 Nominations"</u> (https://www.hollywoodreporter.com/lists/ama-nominations-2018-list-full-114212 3). *The Hollywood Reporter*. Retrieved September 12, 2018.
- 09. Nordyke, Kimberly (October 9, 2018). "American Music Awards: Taylor Swift Wins Artist of the Year, Sets New Record" (https://www.hollywoodreporter.com/lists/american-music-awards-full-list-winners-2018-1146665/item/favorite-male-artist-soul-r-b-1142148). The Hollywood Reporter. Retrieved October 9, 2018.
- 10. "Instagram Flexin: Cardi B Becomes 1st Female Rapper To Top Spotify's Global Chart" (https://hiphopdx.com/editorials/id.4163/title.instagram-flexin-cardi-b-becomes-1st-female-rapper-to-top-spotifys-global-chart). *Hip Hop DX*. October 7, 2018. Retrieved October 9, 2018.
- 11. "RIAA Gold & Platinum: Top Artists (Digital Singles)" (https://www.riaa.com/gold-platinum/?ta b active=top tallies&ttt=TAS#search section). Recording Industry Association of America.
- 12. Fernandez, Suzette (October 30, 2018). "Cardi B Says She Won't Allow Her Baby to Forget Her in 'People en Espanol' Cover Story" (https://www.billboard.com/articles/columns/latin/8482 417/cardi-b-people-en-espanol-cover-story). *Billboard*. Retrieved October 31, 2018.
- 13. "How Cardi B became a pop culture phenomenon" (https://ew.com/music/2018/11/29/cardi-b-e w-entertainers-of-the-year). *Entertainment Weekly*. November 29, 2018. Retrieved November 29, 2018.
- 14. Lyle, Ashley (December 3, 2018). "Cardi B, Drake, Travis Scott & More Honored at Ebony Power 100 Gala" (https://www.billboard.com/articles/columns/hip-hop/8487813/ebony-power-1 00-gala-cardi-b-drake-travis-scott). *Billboard*. Retrieved December 4, 2018.
- 15. Aswad, Jem (December 3, 2018). "Apple Music Unveils Its Top 100 Songs and Albums for 2018" (https://variety.com/2018/digital/news/apple-music-top-100-songs-albums-2018-1203078 843/). Variety. Retrieved December 4, 2018. "Apple Music's Top 100 Global Albums"

- 16. Aniftos, Rania (December 4, 2018). "Spotify Announces 2018 'Wrapped' Most Streamed Stats: Drake & Ariana Grande Top the List" (https://www.billboard.com/articles/news/8488027/spotify-2018-wrapped-most-streamed-stats-drake-ariana-grande). Billboard. Retrieved December 4, 2018.
- 17. Aswad, Jem (December 3, 2018). "Apple Music Unveils Its Top 100 Songs and Albums for 2018" (https://variety.com/2018/digital/news/apple-music-top-100-songs-albums-2018-1203078 843/). Variety. Retrieved December 4, 2018.
- 18. "Billboard's 100 Best Songs of 2018: Critics' Picks" (https://www.billboard.com/articles/events/y ear-in-music-2018/8489483/best-songs-2018-staff-picks). Billboard. December 11, 2018. Retrieved December 11, 2018.
- 19. "The 10 Best Albums of 2018" (http://time.com/5455075/best-albums-2018/). *Time*. November 16, 2018. Retrieved November 16, 2018.
- 20. "50 Best Albums of 2018" (https://www.rollingstone.com/music/music-lists/50-best-albums-201 8-764071/). *Rolling Stone*. December 13, 2018. Retrieved December 13, 2018.
- 21. "Cardi B by Taraji P. Henson" (http://time.com/collection/most-influential-people-2018/5217533/cardi-b/). *Time*. April 19, 2018. Retrieved April 19, 2018.
- 22. "Best Albums of The Decade: The 2010s" (https://www.nme.com/features/nme-best-albums-of-the-decade-2010-2019-2580278). November 29, 2019.
- 23. "2019 GRAMMY Awards: Complete Nominations List" (https://www.grammy.com/grammys/new s/2019-grammy-awards-complete-nominations-list). *The Recording Academy*. December 7, 2018. Retrieved December 7, 2018.
- 24. Powell, Emma (December 7, 2018). "Grammy nominations 2019 LIVE: Full list of nominees from Lady Gaga to Taylor Swift and Cardi B" (https://www.standard.co.uk/showbiz/celebrity-new s/grammy-nominations-2019-live-find-out-the-full-list-of-awards-as-this-year-s-nominees-are-re vealed-a4011116.html). *Evening Standard*. Retrieved December 7, 2018.
- 25. "Cardi B becomes first solo female artist to win Best Rap Album at Grammys" (https://ew.com/grammys/2019/02/10/cardi-b-best-rap-album/). Entertainment Weekly. February 10, 2019. Retrieved February 10, 2019.
- 26. Warner, Denise (April 4, 2019). "Cardi B Leads 2019 Billboard Music Awards Nominations With 21" (https://www.billboard.com/articles/news/bbma/8505581/billboard-music-awards-2019-nom inations). billboard. Retrieved April 4, 2019.
- 27. Lynch, Joe (May 1, 2019). "2019 Billboard Music Awards Winners: The Complete List" (https://www.billboard.com/articles/news/awards/8509655/billboard-music-awards-2019-winners-list). Billboard.
- 28. "The biggest rapper in the world was in Nebraska, okurrr?" (https://www.omaha.com/entertainment/music/the-biggest-rapper-in-the-world-was-in-nebraska-okurrr/article\_e69cc5f2-60d2-5da3-a420-11dcfd78a74e.html). Omaha World-Herald.
- 29. "Hear Cardi B, Bruno Mars' Flirtatious New Song 'Please Me'" (https://www.rollingstone.com/music/music-news/cardi-b-bruno-mars-please-me-song-listen-795218/). *Rolling Stone*. February 15, 2019.
- 30. "Cardi B & Bruno Mars Take Over an After-Hours Taco Joint in 'Please Me' Video: Watch" (http s://www.billboard.com/articles/columns/hip-hop/8500610/cardi-b-please-me-video-bruno-mars). *Billboard*. Retrieved March 2, 2019.
- 31. Peters, Mitchell (March 2, 2019). "Cardi B Breaks Houston Rodeo Attendance Record, Cites Selena Quintanilla as Inspiration" (https://www.billboard.com/articles/columns/hip-hop/850075 1/cardi-b-breaks-houston-rodeo-attendance-record-cites-selena-quintanilla). Billboard. Retrieved March 2, 2019.
- 32. Anderson, Trevor (March 8, 2019). "Cardi B Replaces Herself Atop Mainstream R&B/Hip-Hop Chart as Pardison Fontaine's 'Backin It Up' Hits No. 1" (https://www.billboard.com/articles/columns/chart-beat/8501672/cardi-b-replaces-herself-mainstream-rb-hip-hop-airplay-chart). Billboard. Retrieved March 8, 2019.

- 33. "Press Single and Official Artwork This Week !!!" (https://www.instagram.com/p/Bx\_HvrRAdU9/). May 27, 2019. Retrieved May 28, 2019 via Instagram.
- 34. "Cardi B Press [Official Music Video]" (https://cardib.lnk.to/PressVideo). Linkfire/YouTube. June 26, 2019.
- 35. Bloom, Madison (June 24, 2019). "BET Awards 2019: Watch Cardi B Open the Show With "Press" " (https://pitchfork.com/news/bet-awards-2019-watch-cardi-b-open-the-show-with-press/). *Pitchfork*. Retrieved July 13, 2019.
- 36. "The Source | Cardi B Announces First Dates of Debut Arena Tour" (https://thesource.com/201 9/02/26/cardi-b-tour/). February 26, 2019.
- 37. Wiseman, Andreas (March 19, 2019). "Hustlers': Cardi B, Lili Reinhart, Keke Palmer & Julia Stiles Join Constance Wu & Jennifer Lopez In Avenging Strippers Pic" (https://deadline.com/20 19/03/cardi-b-lili-reinhart-keke-palmer-julia-stiles-constance-wu-jennifer-lopez-hustlers-120257 8260/). Deadline Hollywood. Retrieved March 19, 2019.
- 38. N'Duka, Amanda (April 15, 2019). <u>"Jennifer Lopez-Starring 'Hustlers' Film Gets September Release Date From STX" (https://deadline.com/2019/04/jennifer-lopez-hustlers-release-date-st x-1202596257/)</u>. *Deadline Hollywood*. Retrieved April 15, 2019.
- 39. O'Connell, Michael (November 13, 2018). "Cardi B and Chance the Rapper Will Judge Hip-Hop Competition 'Rhythm + Flow' for Netflix" (https://www.hollywoodreporter.com/live-feed/rhythm-flow-cardi-b-chance-rapper-judge-netflix-hip-hop-competition-1160768). The Hollywood Reporter. Retrieved November 13, 2018.
- 40. "Rhythm + Flow" (https://www.netflix.com/nl-en/title/80216665). Netflix.
- 41. Saponara, Michael (October 22, 2019). "Cardi B Joins the 'Fast & Furious' Family: See Her Video With Vin Diesel" (https://www.billboard.com/articles/columns/hip-hop/8538058/cardi-b-fa st-and-furious-9-vin-diesel-video). *Billboard*. Retrieved October 22, 2019.
- 42. "Cardi B Talks Second Album, TV And Her Upcoming Film Projects" (https://www.forbes.com/sites/hughmcintyre/2019/11/21/cardi-b-talks-second-album-tv-and-her-upcoming-film-project-its-a-very-big-secret/#1e12c7292584). Forbes.
- 43. Salaudeen, Aisha. "Cardi B is set to perform for the first time in Nigeria and Ghana" (https://www.cnn.com/2019/12/05/africa/cardi-b-in-africa/index.html). CNN. Retrieved December 9, 2019.
- 44. "2020 GRAMMY Awards: Complete Nominees List" (https://www.grammy.com/grammys/news/2020-grammy-awards-complete-nominees-list). *Grammy.com*. November 20, 2019. Retrieved November 20, 2019.
- 45. "Cardi B tops Spotify's most-streamed female rapper list" (https://us.hola.com/celebrities/20191 203fihdbkm286/cardi-b-spotify-most-streamed). *Hola*.
- 46. "Top 100 Albums of the 2010s" (https://consequenceofsound.net/2019/12/top-albums-of-the-20 10s/). Consequence of Sound. December 30, 2019.
- 47. Rowley, Glenn (March 17, 2020). "Cardi B 'Coronavirus Remix' Continues to Explode, Gets a Nod From Miley Cyrus & Cody Simpson" (https://www.billboard.com/articles/columns/hip-hop/9 336423/cardi-b-coronavirus-remix-goes-viral). *Billboard*. Retrieved March 18, 2020.
- 48. "Netflix's 'Rhythm + Flow' to Return for Season 2 in 2021" (https://www.complex.com/music/202 0/03/netflix-rhythm-and-flow-return-season-2-in-2021). *Complex*.
- 49. "Hot Girls Rejoice" (https://www.vulture.com/2020/08/hot-girls-rejoice-cardi-megan-thee-stallion-announce-song.html). *Vulture*.
- 50. Holt, Brianna (August 9, 2020). "Why Cardi B and Megan Thee Stallion's Empowering Anthem "WAP' Is So Important" (https://www.complex.com/music/2020/08/cardi-b-megan-thee-stallion-wap-essay). Complex. Retrieved August 9, 2020.
- 51. BW Staff (August 18, 2020). "Cardi B Makes History with New Single, "WAP" " (https://www.broadwayworld.com/bwwmusic/article/Cardi-B-Makes-History-with-New-Single-WAP-20200817). BroadwayWorld. Retrieved August 18, 2020.

- 52. Trust, Gary (August 17, 2020). "Cardi B & Megan Thee Stallion's 'WAP' Debuts at No. 1 on Billboard Hot 100 With Record First-Week Streams" (http://www.billboard.com/articles/busines s/chart-beat/9435213/cardi-bs-wap-debuts-no-1-hot-100). Billboard. Retrieved August 17, 2020.
- 53. Shah, Neil (August 17, 2020). "Cardi B, Megan Thee Stallion Top the Charts in Big Moment for Female Rappers" (https://www.wsj.com/articles/cardi-b-megan-thee-stallion-top-the-charts-in-big-moment-for-female-rappers-11597700847). The Wall Street Journal. Retrieved August 17, 2020.
- 54. Trust, Gary (September 14, 2020). "Cardi B's 'WAP' & Maluma's 'Hawai' Rule Inaugural Billboard Global 200 & Global Excl. U.S. Charts" (https://www.billboard.com/articles/business/chart-beat/9448316/cardi-b-wap-maluma-hawai-rule-first-billboard-global-charts). Billboard. Retrieved September 14, 2020.
- 55. Herrera, Isabela (July 11, 2017). "Ivy Queen Jams to Cardi B on Instagram and the Internet Trembles With Caribeña Glory" (http://remezcla.com/music/ivy-queen-cardi-b-video/). Remezcla. Remezcla, LLC. Retrieved August 1, 2017.
- 56. "Instagram post by Grace Hamilton Oct 7, 2017 at 8:31pm UTC" (https://www.instagram.com/p/BZ9dbWWgdG2/). *Instagram*. Retrieved October 20, 2017.
- 57. "Cardi B said Lady Gaga inspired her 3 years ago and freaked out after finally meeting her at the 2019 Grammys" (https://www.insider.com/cardi-b-met-lady-gaga-grammys-freaked-out-phot os-2019-2). Retrieved July 9, 2019.
- 58. "Cardi B Returns To Her Stripper Roots And Reminds Us Why She Was Born To Flex In 'Money' Video" (https://blavity.com/cardi-b-returns-to-her-stripper-roots-and-reminds-us-why-sh e-was-born-to-flex-in-money-video). *Blavity*. December 21, 2018. Retrieved December 22, 2018.
- 59. "Cardi B rinde tributo a Selena Quintanilla y revela que la 'Reina del Tex-Mex' fue la inspiración para 'Please Me' " (https://www.univision.com/famosos/cardi-b-rinde-tributo-a-selen a-quintanilla-y-revela-que-la-reina-del-tex-mex-fue-la-inspiracion-para-please-me-fotos). *Univision* (in Spanish). Retrieved December 9, 2019.
- 60. "Hollywood Unlocked Uncensored: Cardi B. Unlocks The One Thing She's Most "Cocky"
  About The Hollywood Unlocked" (https://web.archive.org/web/20190322102212/https://thehollywoodunlocked.com/hollywood-unlocked-uncensored-cardi-b/). thehollywoodunlocked.com.
  Archived from the original (http://thehollywoodunlocked.com/hollywood-unlocked-uncensored-cardi-b/) on March 22, 2019. Retrieved July 28, 2017.
- 61. "Cardi B Reveals What She's Most Cocky About on Hollywood Unlocked [UNCENSORED]" (h ttps://www.youtube.com/watch?v=KyCDD3KUJYk). Hollywood Unlocked. June 30, 2017 via YouTube.
- 62. Hurst, Josh (April 10, 2018). "Cardi B Invasion of Privacy" (https://www.slantmagazine.com/music/review/cardi-b-invasion-of-privacy). *Slant*. Retrieved October 14, 2018.
- 63. "Top 50 Albums of 2018" (https://consequenceofsound.net/2018/12/top-50-albums-of-2018/full-post/). Consequence of Sound. December 3, 2018. Retrieved December 4, 2018.
- 64. "Cardi B Is A Great Rapper, And You Need To Start Taking Her Seriously" (https://www.stereogum.com/1952777/cardi-b-is-a-great-rapper-and-you-need-to-start-taking-her-seriously/franchise s/status-aint-hood/). July 19, 2017.
- 65. "Don't Sleep on Cardi B's "Bodak Yellow" " (http://www.complex.com/music/2017/07/cardi-b-bodak-yellow-is-taking-over-the-country). *Complex*.
- 66. "WHAT DOES 'BODAK YELLOW' MEAN? CARDI B'S NEW BILLBOARD NO. 1 SINGLE, EXPLAINED" (https://www.newsweek.com/bodak-yellow-cardi-b-taylor-swift-billboard-670872). Newsweek. September 25, 2017.
- 67. "Cardi B empowers women through her music" (https://medium.com/african-music-in-the-newworld/cardi-b-empowers-women-through-her-music-6fd1404f1feb). May 3, 2019.

- 68. Ramli, Sofiana (July 12, 2019). "Cardi B hits out at Jermaine Dupri: "I rap about my pussy because she's my best friend" " (https://www.nme.com/news/music/cardi-b-hits-out-at-jermaine-dupri-i-rap-about-my-pussy-because-shes-my-best-friend-2527716). NME.
- 69. Chan, Anna (July 12, 2019). "Cardi B Defends Female Rappers After Jermaine Dupri Compares Them to Strippers" (https://www.spin.com/2019/07/cardi-b-defends-female-rappers-a fter-jermaine-dupri-compares-them-to-strippers/). Spin.
- 70. "Cardi B Opens Up About Fashion Designers Rejecting Her" (https://www.billboard.com/article s/news/lifestyle/7768025/cardi-b-fashion-designer-rejection). *Billboard*. April 22, 2017. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 71. Aniftos, Rania (September 10, 2018). <u>"Tom Ford's Cardi B Inspired Lipstick Sold Out in 24 Hours"</u> (https://www.billboard.com/articles/news/8474561/tom-fords-cardi-b-inspired-lipstick-sol d-out-in-24-hours). *Billboard*. Retrieved September 10, 2018.
- 72. Hughes, Aria (November 5, 2018). "Cardi B Signs Reebok Deal" (https://wwd.com/fashion-new s/activewear/cardi-b-reebok-1202897886/). Women's Wear Daily. Retrieved November 5, 2018.
- 73. Hall, Chloe (November 14, 2018). "Cardi B on Fashion Nova Fits, Financial Security, and the State of Democracy" (https://www.elle.com/culture/a25069212/cardi-b-fashion-nova-interview/). *Elle*. Retrieved November 15, 2018.
- 74. "Cardi B and Monet X Change Star in New Pepsi Commercial: Watch" (https://www.billboard.c om/articles/columns/hip-hop/8497110/cardi-b-second-pepsi-commercial). *Billboard*. February 7, 2019. Retrieved February 13, 2019.
- 75. "Rap Snacks Unveils New Flavors for Cardi B and Migos" (https://www.complex.com/music/20 19/02/rap-snacks-new-flavors-cardi-b-migos). Complex. February 11, 2019. Retrieved April 23, 2019.
- 76. Wells, Veronica (November 18, 2016). "Cardi B. Is A Feminist And Y'all Can Stay Mad" (http://madamenoire.com/726565/cardi-b-is-a-feminist-and-yall-can-stay-mad/). Madamenoire.com. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 77. "Cardi B. Is A Feminist And Y'all Can Stay Mad" (https://bossip.com/1378571/cardi-b-is-a-femin ist-and-yall-can-stay-mad/). Bossip.com. November 18, 2016. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 78. Nikas, Joanna (August 17, 2017). "An Afternoon With Cardi B as She Makes Money Moves" (ht tps://www.nytimes.com/2017/08/17/fashion/cardi-b-bodak-yellow.html). NYTimes.com. Retrieved October 4, 2017.
- 79. "Cardi B Official IG on Instagram: "Imagine a old ass female teacher bussing a burner This man really out his mind .America must be entertainment to other countries ." " (https://www.instagram.com/p/Bfg6cl\_Bum1/). Instagram. Retrieved April 9, 2018.
- 80. Cardi B (March 4, 2016). "Like it's not funny nomore" (https://twitter.com/iamcardib/status/70571 4932835336192). *Twitter*.
- 81. ""Vote for Daddy Bernie Bitch!" The Political History of Cardi B" (https://www.theguardian.com/music/2019/jan/22/cardi-b-shutdown-political-history-bernie-sanders?CMP=twt\_gu). The Guardian. Retrieved January 22, 2019.
- 82. Bruner, Raisa (January 28, 2018). "Hillary Clinton and Cardi B Are the Perfect Narrators of President Trump's Life Story" (http://time.com/5122565/hillary-clinton-cardi-b-fire-and-fury/). Time.
- 83. @Variety (April 12, 2019). "Cardi B says she's rooting for Bernie Sanders in the 2020 election (Watch)" (https://twitter.com/Variety/status/1116910568927981569) (Tweet). Retrieved April 13, 2019 via Twitter.
- 84. "Cardi B might be one of Bernie's most powerful 2020 allies. Seriously" (https://www.politico.com/story/2019/08/26/bernie-sanders-cardi-b-friendship-1474249). *Politico*.
- 85. "Cardi B encourages followers to vote in local elections following George Floyd's death" (http s://www.revolt.tv/news/2020/5/29/21274497/cardi-b-talks-voting-george-floyd). *Revolt*.

- 86. "Cardi B In Conversation With Joe Biden" (https://www.elle.com/culture/career-politics/a335494 16/cardi-b-joe-biden-interview/). *Elle*. August 17, 2020.
- 87. "15 Things We Learned From Cardi B's 'Invasion of Privacy' Press Run" (http://www.xxlmag.com/news/2018/04/things-learned-cardi-b-promo-run/), XXL site, April 12, 2018.
- 88. "Cardi B Runs For President & Tells ISIS To Suck A D\*ck | Love & Hip Hop" (https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=BXIDOby18z4&t=2m18s). *YouTube*. April 5, 2016.
- 89. Caity Weaver, "Cardi B's Money Moves" (https://www.gq.com/story/cardi-b-invasion-of-privacy-profile), *GQ*, April 9, 2018.
- 90. Amatulli, Jenna (April 18, 2018). "Bernie Sanders Says 'Cardi B Is Right' About Who Really Made America Great Again" (https://www.huffingtonpost.com/entry/bernie-sanders-says-cardi-b-is-right-about-who-really-made-america-great-again\_us\_5ad76261e4b0e4d0715c7cd2). Huffington Post.
- 91. Stewart, Emily (January 17, 2019). "Cardi B's viral shutdown rant made some really good points" (https://www.vox.com/policy-and-politics/2019/1/17/18186643/cardi-b-government-shut down-rant-instagram-video). Vox. Retrieved March 1, 2019.
- 92. Safi, Michael (October 8, 2020). "Cardi B apologises for supporting Armenia fundraiser after backlash" (https://www.theguardian.com/music/2020/oct/07/cardi-b-apologises-for-supporting-a rmenia-fundraiser-after-backlash). theguardian.com. The Guardian. Retrieved October 11, 2020.
- 93. "Cardi B apologises for promoting Armenia fundraiser after backlash online" (https://news.sky.c om/story/cardi-b-apologises-for-promoting-armenia-fundraiser-after-backlash-online-12098928). Sky News. Sky News. October 9, 2020. Retrieved October 11, 2020.
- 94. "Cardi B Jokes About Nicki Minaj Fight and That Knot on Her Forehead One Week Later" (https://people.com/music/cardi-b-jokes-nicki-minaj-fight-photo/). PEOPLE.com. Retrieved September 18, 2018.
- 95. "Everything We Know About Cardi B and Nicki Minaj's Fight at Harper's Bazaar's ICONS Party" (https://www.elle.com/culture/celebrities/a23036478/cardi-b-nicki-minaj-icons-party-fight-explainer/). *ELLE*. September 8, 2018. Retrieved September 18, 2018.
- 96. "Nicki Minaj Denies Mocking Cardi B's Daughter On 'Queen Radio' " (https://uproxx.com/hipho p/nicki-minaj-cardi-b-daughter/). *UPROXX*. September 10, 2018. Retrieved November 10, 2018.
- 97. "Nicki Minaj denies insulting Cardi B's parenting skills Independent.ie" (https://www.independent.ie/entertainment/music/nicki-minaj-denies-insulting-cardi-bs-parenting-skills-37303801.htm

  l). Independent.ie. Retrieved November 10, 2018.
- 98. "Cardi B's Harper's Bazaar Photo Shoot Winks At Shoe-Throwing Fight With Nicki Minaj" (http s://www.huffpost.com/entry/cardi-b-harpers-bazaar-shoot-winks-at-shoe-throwing-fight-with-nick i-minaj n 5c5c802ce4b03afe8d65671a). *HuffPost*.
- 99. Bollinger, Alex (May 16, 2018). "Rapper Cardi B comes out as bisexual" (https://www.lgbtqnation.com/2018/05/rapper-cardi-b-comes-bisexual/). LGBTQ Nation. Retrieved January 15, 2020.
- 00. "Cardi B says she used to drug and rob men when she worked as a stripper" (https://www.inde pendent.co.uk/arts-entertainment/music/surviving-cardi-b-drug-rob-stripper-instagram-a884091 6.html). *The Independent*. March 27, 2019. Retrieved March 27, 2019.
- 01. "Cardi B explains why she 'drugged and robbed' men" (https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/entertainment-arts-47718477). *BBC News*. March 27, 2019. Retrieved March 27, 2019.
- 02. "Cardi B defends herself after saying she used to drug and rob men when she worked as stripper" (https://www.independent.co.uk/arts-entertainment/music/news/cardi-b-video-instagra m-robbed-men-drugging-controversy-a8841416.html). *The Independent*. March 27, 2019. Retrieved March 27, 2019.
- 03. "Why Cardi B Cancelled Her Book Deal" (https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ZTRkzrmtRk4). *T.I.*

- 04. "How Cardi B Makes Fashion Moves" (https://www.businessoffashion.com/articles/intelligence/how-cardi-b-makes-fashion-moves). The Business of Fashion. October 29, 2018. Retrieved January 3, 2019.
- 05. "Cardi B Takes At-Home Loungewear to the Extreme" (https://www.vogue.com/article/cardi-b-loungewear-at-home-style?utm\_brand=vogue&mbid=social\_twitter&utm\_social-type=owned&utm\_medium=social). Vogue.
- 06. Branch, Kate. "Cardi B's Nail Artist Did My Manicure for the Met Gala—And It Totally Upstaged My Dress" (https://www.vogue.com/article/met-gala-cardi-b-manicure-swarovski-jenny-bui-the-bronx). Vogue. Retrieved August 30, 2020.
- 07. Vogue, January 2020
- 08. "Cardi B becomes first female rapper to cover 'Vogue' " (https://www.revolt.tv/news/2019/12/9/2 1003698/cardi-b-first-female-rapper-vogue). *Revolt.* Retrieved January 8, 2020.
- 09. "28 Black Fashion Forces" (https://cfda.com/news/black-fashion-forces-cardi-b). Council of Fashion Designers of America. February 5, 2019. Retrieved February 13, 2019.
- 10. Bobb, Brooke (September 1, 2020). "Cardi B's Impressive Balenciaga Billboard Graces the Louvre in Paris" (https://www.vogue.com/article/cardi-b-balenciaga-campaign-billboard-louvre-paris). Vogue. Retrieved September 1, 2020.
- 11. Rowley, Glenn (February 5, 2019). "Chrissy Teigen Talks Kanye & John Legend Drama in New #BehindTheTweets Video" (https://www.billboard.com/articles/news/8496682/chrissy-teigen-kanye-john-legend-drama-behindthetweets-video). *Billboard*. Retrieved February 5, 2019.
- 12. "All the best performances from the 2019 Grammy Awards" (https://ew.com/grammys/grammys-2019-best-performances/). *Entertainment Weekly*.
- 13. "Cardi B goes both soft and hard in her new single, "Be Careful" " (https://news.avclub.com/cardi-b-goes-both-soft-and-hard-in-her-new-single-be-1824209959). The AV Club. Retrieved February 11, 2019.
- 14. "Cardi B's Most Memorable Fashion Moments" (http://harpersbazaar.my/fashion/cardi-bs-most-memorable-fashion-moments/). Harper's Bazaar. Retrieved February 11, 2019.
- 15. "The 101 Best Albums of the 2010s" (https://www.spin.com/featured/the-101-best-albums-of-the -2010s/6/). *Spin*.
- 16. WilliamsTwitter, Aaron (February 19, 2020). "For Women In Hip-Hop, Cardi B's Co-Sign Is The New Drake Effect" (https://uproxx.com/music/cardi-b-co-sign-women-in-hip-hop/).
- 17. "Is Rap Finally Ready To Embrace Its Women" (https://www.newyorker.com/culture/cultural-comment/is-rap-finally-ready-to-embrace-its-women). *The New Yorker*.
- 18. "Cardi B's 'Bodak Yellow': Songs That Define the Decade" (https://www.billboard.com/articles/columns/hip-hop/8543874/cardi-b-bodak-yellow-songs-that-defined-the-decade). *Billboard*. November 21, 2019.
- 19. "Cardi B Recalls Not Feeling Welcome In The Music Industry At First" (https://genius.com/a/cardi-b-recalls-not-feeling-welcome-in-the-music-industry-at-first). Genius. August 9, 2020. Retrieved August 23, 2020.
- 20. "The Business Of Being Cardi B" (https://www.npr.org/sections/therecord/2018/04/05/59959295 9/the-business-of-being-cardi-b). *NPR.org*.
- 21. "Cardi B's Personal Brand Took the Media by Storm. Here's What You Can Learn From It" (http s://www.inc.com/spectacular-smith/4-personal-branding-tips-we-can-learn-from-cardi-b.html). *Inc.*
- 22. "Cardi B on Feeling Like Lizzie McGuire, Taking Risks in Fashion, and What She and Bernie Sanders Have in Common" (https://www.vogue.com/article/forces-of-fashion-conference-2019-cardi-b-sally-singer). *Voque*.
- 23. "Why Cardi B is a fashion icon for our times" (https://www.telegraph.co.uk/fashion/people/cardib-fashion-icon-times/). *The Daily Telegraph*.
- 24. "Cardi B, Juice WRLD, More Inducted Into Spotify's RapCaviar 'Pantheon' " (https://variety.com/2019/digital/news/cardi-b-juice-wrld-spotify-rapcaviar-pantheon-1203179428/). *Variety*.

- 25. "How Cardi B's Data Bill Helped to Boost Ghana's GDP Growth" (https://www.bloomberg.com/n ews/articles/2020-04-22/how-cardi-b-s-data-bill-helped-to-boost-ghana-s-economic-growth). Bloomberg.
- 26. "MC Lyte & 'Martin' EP Bentley Kyle Evans Link For Sitcom About Teen With Cardi B Aspirations" (https://hiphopdx.com/news/id.56003/title.mc-lyte-martin-ep-bentley-kyle-evans-lin k-for-sitcom-about-teen-with-cardi-b-aspirations). *Hip Hop DX*.
- 27. "'P-Valley' Creator on Cardi B, Female Gaze and Black Girl Magic on TV (Exclusive)" (https://www.etonline.com/p-valley-creator-on-cardi-b-stripper-culture-black-girl-magic-152156). ET.
- 28. "Rosalía elige a las 28 mujeres que le inspiran: de Aretha Franklin a Azúcar Moreno" (https://www.elconfidencial.com/cultura/2019-03-12/rosalia-artistas-admira-azucar-moreno\_1876342/). El Confidencial.
- 29. Danielle Ransom. "Cardi B Wants To See More Support For Diverse Female Artists In The Music Industry" (https://www.bet.com/music/2020/08/06/cardi-b-female-artist-diversity.html). BET.
- 30. Michael Saponara (July 11, 2019). "Cardi B Urges Fans to Support Female MCs Who Don't Rap About Sex" (https://variety.com/2020/music/news/cardi-b-new-single-wap-apple-music-12 34728797/). *Billboard*.
- 31. Eli Countryman (August 7, 2020). <u>"Cardi B Is Over Being Pitted Against Other Female Artists: "Why Does It Even Have to Be Like That?" (https://variety.com/2020/music/news/cardi-b-new-single-wap-apple-music-1234728797/)</u>. *Variety*.
- 32. Payne, Ogden. "Cardi B Takes Home ASCAP Songwriter Of The Year Award" (https://www.forbes.com/sites/ogdenpayne/2019/06/21/cardi-b-takes-home-ascap-songwriter-of-the-year-award/). Forbes.
- 33. "Cardi B Is First Woman to Repeat as Songwriter of the Year at ASCAP's Rhythm & Soul Awards" (https://www.billboard.com/articles/news/awards/9418384/cardi-b-first-woman-repeat-songwriter-of-the-year-ascap-rhythm-soul-awards). *Billboard*.
- 34. "Cardi B's "Bodak Yellow" Becomes Highest RIAA-Certified Single By A Female Rapper" (http s://allhiphop.com/news/cardi-b-s-bodak-yellow-becomes-highest-riaa-certified-single-by-a-fem ale-rapper-YJbs3a2s-UCJyR-w0WtMDA). *All Hip Hop*.
- 35. McIntyre, Hugh. "Cardi B Has Made History On Spotify" (https://www.forbes.com/sites/hughmcintyre/2020/02/13/cardi-b-has-made-history-on-spotify/). Forbes.
- 36. Agence France-Presse (June 9, 2020). "Number of the day: DJ Snake's 'Taki Taki' amasses a billion plays on Spotify" (https://sports.yahoo.com/number-day-dj-snakes-taki-taki-amasses-billi on-123020865.html). Yahoo!.
- 37. "Billboard 200 Decade-End" (https://www.billboard.com/charts/decade-end/billboard-200). *Billboard*.
- 38. "Cardi B's 'Invasion Of Privacy' Becomes Longest-Charting Album By A Female Rapper" (http s://allhiphop.com/news/cardi-b-s-invasion-of-privacy-becomes-longest-charting-album-by-a-fe male-rapper-pjQSZksRi0OLPWzaXgsfgw). *All Hip Hop*.
- 39. "Cardi B's 'Invasion Of Privacy' Is The Most-Streamed Album By A Female Rapper Ever On Spotify" (https://www.bet.com/music/2019/12/30/cardi-b-invasion-of-privacy-spotify.html?cid=fac ebook). *BET.com*.
- 40. "Diversity wins as female artists and hip-hop triumph at Grammys" (https://www.theguardian.com/music/2019/feb/11/diversity-wins-as-female-artists-and-hip-hop-triumph-at-grammys). *The Guardian*.
- 41. Grow, Jon Dolan, Brittany Spanos, Simon Vozick-Levinson, Rob Sheffield, Charles Holmes, Christian Hoard, Joseph Hudak, Elias Leight, Suzy Exposito, Will Hermes, Angie Martoccio, David Browne, Hank Shteamer, Jon Freeman, Claire Shaffer, Brenna Ehrlich, Jonathan Bernstein, Jon Blistein, Nick Catucci, Brendan Klinkenberg, Danny Schwartz, Kory; Portwood, Jerry (December 3, 2019). "The 100 Best Albums of the 2010s" (https://www.rollingstone.com/music/music-lists/best-albums-2010s-ranked-913997/).

- 42. "100 Best Albums of the 2010s: Staff Picks" (https://www.billboard.com/articles/news/list/85437 22/best-albums-of-the-2010s-top-100). *Billboard*. November 19, 2019.
- 43. "Cardi B on Her Kicking Baby and Pearl-Covered Dress" (https://video.vogue.com/watch/met-g ala-cardi-b-on-her-kicking-baby-and-pearl-covered-dress). <u>Vogue</u>. Condé Nast. Retrieved May 29, 2018.
- 44. "Cardi B God Brought Her To The Strip Club To Save Her Life" (https://www.youtube.com/wat ch?v=UZhsgC0FlQk). YouTube. February 21, 2017. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 45. "CARDI B ON GOD: Explains Why She Speaks to God Says It's A 50/50 (VIDEO)" (https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=3E1WnX\_U8wA). YouTube. February 7, 2017. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 46. "Getting To Know Cardi B Interview Part Two" (https://rickeysmileymorningshow.com/1758012/cardi-b-strip-club/). The Rickey Smiley Morning Show. September 16, 2015. Retrieved July 17, 2017.
- 47. "Cardi B Says #MeToo Movement Has Ignored Video Vixens: 'Nobody Gives a F---' " (https://www.billboard.com/articles/columns/hip-hop/8252791/cardi-b-on-metoo-video-vixens). *Billboard*. March 19, 2018. Retrieved April 3, 2018.
- 48. "Cardi B Opens up to Zendaya in the New Issue of CR Fashion Book" (https://www.crfashionbook.com/celebrity/a15956294/card-b-zendaya-cr-fashion-book-interview/). *CR Fashion Book*. December 21, 2018. Retrieved January 19, 2019.
- 49. Shamsian, Jacob; and Singh, Olivia. <u>"The fabulous life of Cardi B, from stripper to chart-topping rapper" (https://www.insider.com/who-is-cardi-b-bodak-yellow-2017-9)</u>, Insider, January 14, 2019. Accessed August 12, 2019. "Her distinctive New Yawk accent makes her an important part of the city's constellation of hip-hop artists. But she prefers to live in Edgewater, New Jersey, and commute to New York City."
- 50. Kameir, Rawiya. "Cardi B Did It Her Way; Cardi B engineered Instagram fame into reality TV stardom into a poppin' rap career. Now she's learning to juggle everything that comes with it." (http://www.thefader.com/2017/06/22/cardi-b-cover-story-interview), *The Fader*, June 22, 2017. Accessed August 12, 2019."
- 51. Gonzales, Erica. "Cardi B Shares Her Own #MeToo Story and Stands Up for Women in Hip-Hop" (https://www.harpersbazaar.com/celebrity/latest/a19486392/cardi-b-metoo-story-women-hiphop/). www.harpersbazaar.com.
- 52. Hughes, Jazmine (March 19, 2018). "Cardi B Gives Her Most Explicit Interview Yet" (https://www.cosmopolitan.com/entertainment/celebs/a18930050/cardi-b-cosmopolitan-cover-interview/). Cosmopolitan.
- 53. Connick, Tom (March 19, 2018). "Cardi B wants the #MeToo movement to be more inclusive NME" (https://www.nme.com/news/music/cardi-b-wants-metoo-movement-inclusive-2268950).
- 54. "How Did Cardi B Handle Her #Metoo Incident?" (https://m.youtube.com/watch?v=SzlDn\_8Odv 8).
- 55. Ballin, Sofiya (October 28, 2017). "Cardi B gets engaged at Power 99's Powerhouse Concert in Philly" (http://www.philly.com/philly/entertainment/cardi-b-gets-engaged-at-power-99s-powerhouse-concert-in-philly-20171028.html). philly.com. Retrieved October 28, 2017.
- 56. DiMeglio, Mary J. (April 8, 2018). "Cardi B Reveals Pregnancy in 'SNL' Performance" (https://www.billboard.com/articles/news/8297568/cardi-b-pregnant-snl). Billboard. Retrieved April 8, 2018.
- 57. Whittum, Connor (June 25, 2018). "Cardi B Confirms Secret Marriage to Offset: 'There Are Some Moments I Want to Keep for Myself'" (https://www.billboard.com/articles/columns/hip-hop/8462548/cardi-b-offset-married). *Billboard*. Retrieved June 25, 2018.

- 58. "Cardi B announces birth of daughter on Instagram" (https://web.archive.org/web/20180713233 411/https://abcnews.go.com/amp/Entertainment/wireStory/cardi-announces-birth-daughter-inst agram-56511854). ABC News. Archived from the original (https://abcnews.go.com/amp/Enterta inment/wireStory/cardi-announces-birth-daughter-instagram-56511854) on July 13, 2018. Retrieved July 11, 2018.
- 59. Sager, Jessica (February 28, 2019). "Offset reveals how he and Cardi B got back together" (http s://www.foxnews.com/entertainment/offset-reveals-how-he-and-cardi-b-got-back-together). Fox News. Retrieved May 10, 2020.
- 60. Merrett, Robyn; Sands, Nicole. <u>"Cardi B Says She and Husband Offset Are Not Together Anymore: 'I Guess We Fell Out of Love' " (https://people.com/music/cardi-b-offset-split/)</u>. *People*. Retrieved December 5, 2018.
- 61. "Cardi B and Offset Share Major PDA Moment on the 2019 Grammys Red Carpet/" (https://m.e online.com/news/1013374/cardi-b-and-offset-share-major-pda-moment-on-the-2019-grammys-r ed-carpet). *E! Online*. February 11, 2019.
- 62. "Grammys 2019: Cardi B Wins Best Rap Album" (https://pitchfork.com/news/grammys-2019-car di-b-wins-best-rap-album/). *Pitchfork*. Retrieved February 17, 2019.
- 63. "Cardi B files for divorce from Offset after 3 years of marriage" (https://www.eonline.com/au/new s/1188154/cardi-b-files-for-divorce-from-offset-after-3-years-of-marriage). eonline.com. September 15, 2020.
- 64. https://www.bbc.com/news/entertainment-arts-54174437
- 65. "Cardi B gets assault summons but lawyer say she did no harm" (https://www.apnews.com/821 226955a3f433f99b2edb5614b0759/). AP. October 1, 2018.
- 66. Pasquini, Maria; Michaud, Sarah; Rubenstein, Janine (October 1, 2018). "Cardi B Turns Herself in to Police, Arrested and Charged for Alleged Attack on Bartenders" (https://people.com/music/cardi-b-surrendered-police-ordering-attack-strip-club-bartenders/). People.
- 67. Melas, Chloe (December 7, 2018). "Cardi B shows up to court and avoids potential arrest" (http s://amp.cnn.com/cnn/2018/12/07/entertainment/cardi-b-court-hearing/index.html). CNN.
- 68. Kreps, Daniel (December 7, 2018). "Cardi B Appears in Court for Hearing Over Strip Club Assault Charges" (https://www.rollingstone.com/music/music-news/cardi-b-strip-club-assault-hearing-766243/amp/). Rolling Stone.
- 69. Fieldstadt, Elisha (June 21, 2019). <u>"Cardi B indicted on felony charges in alleged strip-club brawl"</u> (https://www.nbcnews.com/news/us-news/cardi-b-indicted-unspecified-charges-alleged-strip-club-brawl-n1020271). *NBC*.
- 70. "Cardi B charged with strip club assault" (https://www.bbc.com/news/entertainment-arts-487232 75). *BBC*. June 21, 2019.
- 71. "Cardi B pleads not guilty to strip club fight charges" (https://www.nbcnews.com/news/us-news/cardi-b-pleads-not-guilty-strip-club-fight-charges-n1021591). *NBC News*.

## **External links**

- Official website (https://www.cardibofficial.com)
- Cardi B (https://www.allmusic.com/artist/mn0003493912) at AllMusic
- Cardi B (https://www.discogs.com/artist/Cardi%2BB) discography at Discogs
- Cardi B (https://www.imdb.com/name/nm8054799/) on IMDb
- Cardi B (https://musicbrainz.org/artist/2f3c4d70-0462-40da-bba3-0aec5772c556) discography at MusicBrainz

#### This page was last edited on 12 October 2020, at 02:44 (UTC).

Text is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike License; additional terms may apply. By using this site, you agree to the Terms of Use and Privacy Policy. Wikipedia® is a registered trademark of the Wikimedia Foundation, Inc., a non-profit organization.